

International Masters of Science in Environmental Technology and Engineering

Master's dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the joint degree of

EU Erasmus+ Master course organized by

University of Chemistry and Technology, Prague, the Czech Republic

IHE Delft Institute for Water Education, Delft, the Netherlands

Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Academic year 2022

Biochar as a soil amendment to decrease the uptake of cadmium in spinach

Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Ifeoluwapo Ayomikun Babalola

Promotor: Prof. dr. ir. Filip Tack

Tutors: Antoine Delemazure and Maria Laura De Donno

[September 2022]







UNIVERSITY OF CHEMISTRY AND TECHNOLOGY PRAGUE









International Masters of Science in Environmental Technology and Engineering

Master's dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the joint degree of EU Erasmus+ Master course organized by

University of Chemistry and Technology, Prague, the Czech Republic

IHE Delft Institute for Water Education, Delft, the Netherlands

Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Academic year 2022

Biochar as a soil amendment to decrease the uptake of cadmium in spinach

Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Ifeoluwapo Ayomikun Babalola

Promotor: Prof. dr. ir. Filip Tack

Tutors: Antoine Delemazure and Maria Laura De Donno

[September 2022]













Declaration

This is an unpublished M.Sc. dissertation and is not prepared for further distribution. The author and the promoter give the permission to use this Master dissertation for consultation and to copy parts of it for personal use. Every other use is subject to the copyright laws, more specifically the source must be extensively specified when using results from this Master dissertation.

The Promoter:

Prof. dr. ir. Filip Tack

The Tutors:

Antoine Delemazure and Maria Laura De Donno

The Author:

Ifeoluwapo Ayomikun Babalola

...to my late father

Abstract

Leafy vegetables such as spinach have the tendency to accumulate cadmium (Cd) beyond the permissible limits provided by the European Commission in 2015, i.e., 0.2 mg Cd/kg (fresh weight). Despite its cultivation on agricultural lands with baseline concentrations of Cd i.e., 0.01 - 1 mg Cd/kg, spinach can still contain Cd above the limit. This research aims to use biochar as a soil amendment to control the uptake of Cd in spinach. Among various factors influencing the uptake of Cd by spinach, the impact of watering regime was studied. Cultivation of spinach was carried out in a greenhouse, on agricultural soil (sandy loam) with baseline concentrations of Cd i.e., 0.42 mg/kg. Three treatments included, control soil (soil without biochar), soil with 2% biochar (2% BC), and soil with 4% biochar (4% BC). Moreover, for each treatment, the watering regime implemented was three-times watering a week (3XW), one-time watering a week (1XW), dry-wet watering (DWW) i.e., one-time watering for the first 3 weeks then three-times watering for the last three weeks, and wet-dry watering (WDW) i.e., three-times watering for the first 3 weeks then one-time watering for the last three weeks. After 2 weeks of equilibration, easily extractable Cd (using 0.01 M CaCl₂) in substrates with 2% BC and 4% BC had significantly reduced (P < 0.05) by 36% and 52% respectively compared to the control soil, while there was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in Cd extracted by ammonium acetate-EDTA (pH 4.65). With the aid of a diffusive gradient in thin film (DGT), the ratio (R) which depicts the resupply of Cd from the solid phase to the soil solution was high (R = 0.8) for the control soil, but low (R = 0.3 and 0.2) for the treatment with 2% BC and 4% BC respectively. In addition, after 6 weeks of treatment, biochar application significantly reduced (P < 0.05) Cd concentration in the soil pore-water by 11% - 38% and 53% - 74% for treatments with 2% BC and 4% BC respectively. After harvest i.e., after 10 weeks of cultivation, above-ground biomass (stem, leaves, flowers, and seeds) of spinach was analysed. Highest Cd concentration (0.71 mg Cd/kg) and least Cd concentration (0.29 mg Cd/kg) in spinach were measured under treatments with 2% BC (WDW) and 4% BC (3XW) respectively. In conclusion, Cd most times exceed permissible limits in spinach when cultivated on this agricultural soil because of the continuous increase in bioavailable Cd in the soil pore water, attributable to the exchangeable and reducible fraction of Cd in the soil, coupled with a high resupply of Cd from the solid phase. Both biochar amendments were not able to significantly reduce (P > 0.05) Cd uptake by spinach, despite significant effects on soil solution. Therefore, application of this particular biochar may be insufficient in attenuating the risk of exceeding permissible limits of Cd in spinach when cultivated on this soil.

Acknowledgment

Firstly, I will love to express my profound gratitude to the Almighty God for giving me the grace and enablement to successfully complete my thesis. I will also like to render my appreciation to my wonderful supervisor, in person of Prof. Filip Tack, for his undeniable support and efforts throughout my experiment. His kind words, advise, and corrections helped me a lot through this journey and I am more than grateful for having him as my promoter.

Appreciation also goes to my tutors, Antoine Delemazure and Maria Laura De Donno for their support, encouragement, corrections, and guidance during the course of my thesis. It has been a privilege being under their tutelage and mentorship and I cannot take their contributions for granted. I also acknowledge their outstanding assistance and efforts during the cultivation period of my plants.

I cannot neglect the contributions provided to me by the laboratory technicians namely, Joachim Neri, Rosaline Blanckaert, and Amelia Parao. I duly recognize their assistance and advice during my research, most especially during the operation of the laboratory equipment.

Lastly, I love to appreciate the support and encouragement provided to me by my family and friends back in Nigeria. They were more than a driving force toward the successful completion of my thesis.

Table of Contents

Declaration	i
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgment	iv
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Plates	X
Abbreviations	xi
1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Heavy metals	
2.2 Cadmium	
2.3 Toxicant assessment and thresholds	
2.4 Bio-availability of metals in the soil	5
2.5 Factors influencing uptake of cadmium by plants	5
2.5.1 Soil properties	5
2.5.2 Climatic conditions	7
2.5.3 Plant physiology	
2.6 Estimating concentrations of metals in soil	
2.6.1 Soil pore-water sampling	9
2.6.2 Diffusive Gradient in Thin Films (DGT)	9
2.6.3 Single chemical extractions	10
2.6.4 Sequential Extraction	
2.6.5 Total metal content determination	
2.7 Spinach	
2.8 Soil amendments for stabilizing metals in soil	
2.8.1 Inorganic soil amendments	
2.8.2 Organic soil amendments	
2.9 Biochar as a soil amendment for stabilizing heavy metals in soil	15
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Soil sampling and biochar used	
3.2 Nursery	
3.3 Water holding capacity	
3.4 Moisture content determination	19
3.5 Determination of cadmium content in fertilizer using aqua regia digestion	19
3.6 Analysis of cadmium in solution	19
3.7 Soil analysis	
3.7.1 0.01 <i>M</i> calcium chloride (CaCl ₂) extraction	
3.7.2 Ammonium acetate-EDTA pH 4.65 extraction	

2.7.2. Soturated pasts sytumetical and electrical conductivity	20
3.7.3 Saturated paste extraction and electrical conductivity	20
3.7.4 Aqua regia digestion	21
3.7.5 BCR sequential extraction	21
3.7.6 pH of substrate	21
3.7.7 pH-stat experiment	21
3.7.8 Buffering capacity	22
3.7.9 Diffusive gradient in thin films (DGT)	22
3.7.10 Release kinetics	23
3.8 Cultivated plants and soils	23
3.8.1 Rhizon sampling	24
3.9 Postharvest soils	24
4 RESULTS	25
4.1 Soil and biochar characterization	25
4.2 Determination of easily extractable Cd in the soil using 0.01 M CaCl ₂ extraction	26
4.3 Determination of Cd concentration in the soil using ammonium acetate-EDTA extraction.	27
4.4 Pseudo-total Cd concentration in soils	27
4.5 Saturated paste extraction	28
4.6 Soil pore water	29
4.7 pH stat and buffering capacity	30
4.8 Release kinetics	32
4.9 Concentration of Cd measured by DGT	33
4.10 Spinach	34
4.10.1 Cd accumulation in spinach	37
4.10.2 Bioaccumulation in plants	38
4.10.3 Total water added	39
5 DISCUSSION	40
5.1 Cadmium in soil and plant on the control soil	40
5.2 Effects of biochar	42
5.3 Impact of watering regime	44
6 CONCLUSIONS	46
7 RECOMMENDATIONS	47
REFERENCES	49
APPENDICES	59

List of Figures

Figure 1. Schematic of a rhizon sampler (from 'Rhizon soil moisture sampler: operating instructions';
www.eijkelkamp.com)9
Figure 2. a) A typical DGT device
b) Cross-sectional view of a DGT 10
Figure 3. Diffusion of metal ions from the solid phase into the DGT device (Li et al., 2019a) 10
Figure 4. Cultivation stages of spinach (Spinacia oleracea). Image adapted from Noordijk et al., (2016).
"A" represents spinach seed. "B" represents a developing seedling. "C" represents the
development of 2 leaf rosette. D represents the formation of 3 leaves rosette. E represents the
formation of 7 leaves rosette
Figure 5. Classification of soil amendments and their various processes used in immobilizing Cd
(Hamid et al., 2019)
Figure 6. Possible interactions between metals and biochar in amended soils (Cheng et al., 2020)16
Figure 7. a) CaCl ₂ -extractable Cd concentrations (mg/kg) in soil (with and without biochar) after 2
weeks of equilibration (mean value, $n = 3$). Error bars indicate standard deviation. Bars with
the same letter are not significantly different $(P > 0.05)$
b) CaCl ₂ -extractable Cd concentrations (mg/kg) in soil (with and without biochar) after 10
weeks of cultivation period (mean values, $n = 4$). Error bars indicate standard deviation. Bars
with the same letter are not statistically different ($P > 0.05$)
Figure 8. Cd concentration (mg/kg) released from the substrates by ammonium acetate-EDTA extraction
Solution (mean values, $n = 3$). Bars with the same letter are not statistically different (P > 0.05)
Figure 9. Fractionation of Cd in various pools of the substrate. F1 represents the exchangeable pool.
F2 represents the reducible pool. F3 represents the organic pool. F4 represents the residual
pool
Figure 10. Cd concentrations in soil pore-water (μ g/L) in soil (with and without biochar) at different
timepoints under the wet condition (3XW) and dry condition (1XW). Error bars represent
standard deviation (n = 4)
Figure 11. Release of Cd (µg/L) from control soil at varying pH
Figure 12. pH buffer curves for soils (with and without biochar) for different pH's a) pH 4 (b) pH 5.5
(d) pH 7 and (e) pH 8. Error bars signify the standard errors $(n = 3)$ 32
Figure 13. a) Concentration of Cd (μ g/L) released from each treatment with time. b) Change in pH of
soil treatments with time. c) Change in electrical conductivity (dS/m) of soil treatments
with time. d) Change in total organic carbon concentration (mg/L) of soil treatments with
time. Errors bars represent standard deviation
Figure 14. a) Biomass yield (g) of spinach (fresh weight) per treatment. b) Biomass yield (g) of spinach
(dry weight) per treatment. Mean values $(n = 4)$ and standard deviation are shown. Bars with

the same letter are not sig	nificantly different	(P > 0.05)	6
-----------------------------	----------------------	------------	---

List of Tables

Table 1. Physiochemical characteristics of the soil and biochar used (mean value \pm standard deviation,
n = 3)
Table 2. Cd concentration (μ g/L) in soil pore water at extreme watering conditions (3XW and 1XW).
Means and standard deviation are shown $(n = 3)$. Values with the same letter are not
significantly different (P > 0.05)
Table 3. Concentration of Cd in the pore water (Csol) determined from initial rhizon extract,
concentration of Cd measured by DGT device (C _{DGT}), effective concentration (C _E) measured
by the DGT device, and the ratio (R) of C_{DGT} to C_{sol} . Means and standard deviation are shown
(n = 3)
Table 4. Ratio of dry to fresh biomass yield (g) per treatment as a function of watering regime ^a . Averages
sharing the same letter are not significantly different ^b
Table 5. Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) for all treatments. Values represent mean and standard
deviations ($n = 4$). Values with the same letter are not significantly different. "3XW" is three
times watering per week. "1XW" is one-time watering per week. "DWW" is dry-wet watering.
"WDW" is wet-dry watering. Mean values sharing the same letter are not significantly different ^a

List of Plates

Plate 1. Spinach after 7 weeks of planting (which includes 3 weeks of treatment). "A" Control	ol soil
(3XW), "B" Soil with 2% BC (3XW), "C" soil with 4% BC (3XW)	
Plate 2. Spinach after 10 weeks of planting (which includes 6 weeks of treatment). "A" Cont	rol soil
(3XW), "B" Soil with 2% BC (3XW), "C" soil with 4% BC (3XW)	

Abbreviations

3XW	Three-times watering per week
1XW	One-time watering per week
DWW	Dry-Wet watering i.e. one-time watering for the first three weeks then three-times watering for the last three weeks
WDW	Wet-Dry watering i.e. three-times watering for the first three weeks then one-time watering for the last three weeks
2% BC	Soil with 2% biochar
4 % BC	Soil with 4% biochar
CEC	Cation exchange capacity
TOC	Total organic carbon
EC	Electrical conductivity
DGT	Diffusive gradient in thin films
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
BCR	Bureau Communautaire de Reference
DBL	Diffusive boundary layer
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
WHO	World Health Organization
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantification
QC	Quality control
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FW	Fresh weight
DW	Dry weight
BAF	Bioaccumulation factor

1 INTRODUCTION

Cadmium (Cd) is classified as a non-essential, toxic, and relatively mobile heavy metal which is naturally present in the soil (Alloway, 2013, Zahedifar, 2020). Cd concentrations in the soil typically range from 0.01 to 1 mg/kg (Kubier et al., 2019), while the average Cd concentration in European Union (EU) soils is 0.3 mg/kg (Alloway, 2012). Cd concentrations in cultivated crops have been a major concern since the outbreak of the Itai-Itai disease in Jinzu Valley of Japan in the 20th century, which resulted in chronic health disorders, such as bone disease and renal disorders, due to the ingestion of food and water with high levels of Cd leading to the mortality of hundreds of people (Liu et al., 2017, Hayat et al., 2019). Elevated Cd in the soil is majorly attributed to anthropogenic activities (Luo et al., 2009) and geological weathering (Liu et al., 2013).

Some crops such as leafy vegetables have a natural tendency to accumulate high levels of Cd from the soil (Baldantoni et al., 2016, Nawrot et al., 2010). Permissible limit of Cd in cultivated crops such as spinach (*Spinacia oleracea L.*), a widely consumed vegetable in Belgium has been set to 0.2 mg/kg (European Commission, 2015). However, there is a large variability in Cd accumulation by spinach and it sometimes exceed the permissible limits even when cultivated on soils with baseline concentrations of Cd (Smolders, 2001, Khan et al., 2020). This phenomenon has therefore led to various experiments seeking ways on reducing the uptake of Cd by spinach.

The uptake of Cd from the soil is influenced by several factors such as soil pH (Cheng et al., 2020, Qi et al., 2018), organic matter content (Kubier et al., 2019, Muehe et al., 2013), cation exchange capacity, redox potential (Petruzzelli et al., 2020), plant physiology (Yin et al., 2016) and seasonal conditions e.g. rainfall pattern, sunshine, wind, and temperature (Tack, 2017). Cd can exist in different forms, such as soluble Cd^{2+} which can be easily taken up by plants, or insoluble Cd in the form of CdS, CdCO₃, and Cd₃(PO₄)₂, which prevents absorption of Cd through the roots of plants (Cheng et al., 2020). Therefore, the speciation of Cd in the soil influences the uptake and accumulation of Cd in cultivated plants.

Biochar has been used as a soil amendment over time to improve soil fertility and also mitigate metal accumulation by plants (Park et al., 2011, Sui et al., 2018). Diverse properties such as large surface area, elevated pH, highly porous structure, high cation exchange capacity, and presence of active functional groups make biochar a suitable option for reducing environmental health risks of contaminants (Egene et al., 2018). Some studies have proven biochar to be successful in reducing the uptake of Cd in spinach (Nobaharan et al., 2022, Qayyum et al., 2019, Younis et al., 2016). In addition, the application rate of biochar has an important influence on its role in decreasing the uptake of metals by plants (Egene et al., 2018) and this should be taken into account when using biochar as a soil amendment.

Apart from impeding plant growth and nutrient absorption, water deficiency also has a major impact on the uptake of Cd by leafy vegetables. There seems to be an increase in Cd concentration in spinach when

cultivated in water-stressed conditions (Tack, 2017). Therefore, variation in precipitation plays a role in the levels of Cd obtainable in harvested crops.

The main objective of this study was to determine the influence of biochar as a soil amendment on a Belgian soil with baseline concentrations of Cd and evaluate its efficiency in reducing the uptake of Cd by cultivated spinach (*Spinacia oleracea L*.). This involves assessing the plants' response as a function of biochar application rate, time since application, growing conditions, the intensity and frequency of watering, while important uptake of essential elements such as zinc (Zn) or iron (Fe) are to be assessed.

The specific objectives include:

- a) evaluate the effectiveness of biochar in decreasing uptake of Cd by spinach cultivated on soil with baseline concentrations
- b) assess Cd fractionation across various pools in the soil, as influenced by the addition of biochar
- c) determine the influence of varying watering regimes on the uptake of Cd by spinach

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Heavy metals

Heavy metal contamination raises more concern especially when present in agricultural soils, wherein uptake by plants results in negative impacts on food security (CEC, 2006). Factors such as concentration level and non-biodegradability of some heavy metals make them highly detrimental to the environment. As a result of soil contamination which may eventually lead to the degradation of underground water and the environment in general (Kubier et al., 2019), the food chain can become potentially affected. Despite the well-known information as regards the negative impact posed by heavy metals in contaminated areas, so far there has been relatively little documentation and data to show the real extent of the issue in the European Union (Tóth et al., 2016).

The toxicity of heavy metals is dependent on some factors such as plant species, soil composition, metal concentration, pH, chemical form, and specific metal (Jaishankar et al., 2014). Heavy metals such as Cd, mercury (Hg), and arsenic (As) have a strong negative impact on plant growth and important enzymes which are metal sensitive, thereby possibly resulting to plant death (Nagajyoti et al., 2010). Most heavy metals also get accumulated in the trophic food chain through gradual uptake by the primary producers i.e. plants and the final consumers i.e. humans.

2.2 Cadmium

Naturally, Cd occurs in low quantities in the soil but due to anthropogenic activities, its level tends to be on the increase over the years (Luo et al., 2009, Kubier et al., 2019). This increase in Cd could vary from location to location based on various factors such as variation in soil composition/formation, closeness to the pollution source, and soil management practices such as application of Cd contaminated fertilizers, manure, or sludge from sewage (Grant et al., 1998).

There is an increase in Cd concentrations within the soil when phosphate fertilizers are been applied. This is because Cd is naturally present in them (Yi et al., 2020). This leads to an overall increase in Cd levels above the background concentrations. This statement aligns with that of Toth et al., (2016), wherein high levels of Cd in Western Europe soils were attributed to the use of fertilizers produced from phosphate rock gotten from Morocco, while Eastern Europe soils have relatively low or no Cd due to the use of fertilizers produced from Kola phosphate rock from Russia. It is noteworthy that increased levels of Cd (> 1 mg/kg) detected in most industrialized areas are attributed to past centuries when smelters carried out their operations under less strict regulations and also when Cd was not recovered during the production of Zn (WHO, 2000).

Irrespective of the fact that Cd is a non-essential element required by plants, the bioaccumulation factor of Cd in plants is relatively higher in comparison to other trace elements, due to its low coefficient of adsorption and high soil-to-plant mobility (Shahid et al., 2016). Cd has been recognized for having the potential to alter the morpho-physiological and biochemical status of plants (Farooq et al., 2016, Ehsan et al., 2014), thereby affecting the overall plant condition and expected growth pattern.

Long-term exposure or occupational hazards relating to Cd contributes to the development of health issues such as acute pneumonitis and lung cancer (WHO, 2000). However, this perception has changed over the years as several studies have documented the health hazards posed by cadmium-contaminated food (Yang et al., 2016). Excessive consumption of food high in Cd can lead to pulmonary edema, chest pain, cough, and inflammation of certain vital organs in the body (Roy et al., 2013, Hayat et al., 2019). Vegetables that are cultivated on Cd contaminated soils were proven to have altered mineral contents of Zn, copper (Cu), manganese (Mn), and magnesium (Mg). However, the negative effects of altered minerals concentrations in consumable plants have been neglected over the years (Yang et al., 2016).

The Itai-Itai disease which means "ouch-ouch" disease occurred after World War II in Jinzu Valley, Toyama territory in Japan due to the continuous consumption of food and water contaminated with Cd (Hayat et al., 2019). This disease caused fractures and pains in the bones of the skeleton and also chronic health disorders resulting in the death of several victims (Nishijo et al., 2017). Other chronic health disorders caused by Cd include renal disorders, cardiovascular abnormality, and hormonal imbalances (Hayat et al., 2019).

2.3 Toxicant assessment and thresholds

Over the years, there have been reviews of allowable limits of Cd in ingestible products both in humans and animals. New threshold limits are aimed at reducing the health risks caused by the presence of heavy metals in the environment. In 1972, the World Health Organization (WHO) set the maximum allowable intake of Cd for adults at $60 - 70 \mu g/kg$ per day (Grant and Bailey, 1997). On the 30^{th} of January, 2009, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) adopted a much lower threshold on Cd-contaminated food, wherein the allowable weekly intake of such products is $2.5 \mu g/kg$ body weight. This new amendment was relative to EFSA's statement on "tolerable weekly intake for cadmium", where it was stated that the new limit was adopted due to the recent risk assessment being carried out on Cd toxicity (European Commission, 2015). However, according to "Codex Alimentarius", the maximum Cd concentration in leafy vegetables such as spinach is 0.2 mg/kg (CODEX, 1995).

2.4 Bioavailability of metals in the soil

Concerning soil, bioavailability can be defined as the fraction of compounds that can freely move from the soil environment across the cellular membrane into an organism at a given time (Umeh et al., 2020, Semple et al., 2004). After the transfer of the contaminants into the organism, transformation, degradation, assimilation, or storage can occur within the organism (Naidu et al., 2008). Bioavailability is considered as being species-specific because different biological responses take place among varying receptors (Stokes et al., 2005). The total fraction of a contaminant that becomes bioavailable is dependent on various factors including the metal involved, contact time, and the environmental media.

Various chemical, biochemical and physical processes influence the availability of contaminants in the soil (Ehlers and Luthy, 2003, Umeh et al., 2020). By the process of adsorption, contaminants bind to the solid phase in the soil, while absorption or precipitation binds contaminants to the organic matter. The release of adsorbed contaminants into fluids can also be as a result of a change in water saturation, gas and water chemistry, and solid surface properties (Ehlers and Luthy, 2003), and this ultimately influences the level of bioavailable contaminants in plants.

2.5 Factors influencing uptake of cadmium by plants

The soil is classified as a dynamic system that is characterized by a high level of heterogeneity, where various processes determine the fate and transport of metals present within the soil matrix (Petruzzelli et al., 2020, Semple et al., 2004). Heavy metals contained in the soil can be present in five major pools (Petruzzelli et al., 2020), namely: (i) complex or simple soluble ions in the soil solution. (ii) exchangeable forms through the adsorption on mineral particles. (iii) adsorbed or complexed ions on organic matter. (iv) precipitation with carbonates, phosphates, and oxides or secondary minerals. (v) incorporation into the crystal lattice of clay minerals.

Different parameters such as pH, cation or anion exchange capacity, amorphous metal oxides, clay content, and soil organic matter influence the distribution of heavy metals across the five forms (Naidu et al., 2008, Petruzzelli et al., 2020). Retention and release of heavy metals in the soil influence the fraction which can eventually flow across the membrane of a plant. There is a need to understand how varying parameters influence the distribution of Cd in the soil.

2.5.1 Soil properties

2.5.1.1 pH

pH is one of the most important soil parameters that influence the sorption, desorption, mobility, and availability of heavy metals in the soil. At low pH, heavy metals exist in their ionic form and become

more soluble, which results in higher bioavailability and uptake by plants. In acidic environments, Cd is largely present as Cd^{2+} ions, which is bioavailable for plants, while between pH 6 - 7, Cd exists in other forms such as $CdHCO_3^+$, $CdCl^-$ and hydrated $CdCO_3^0$ (Tudoreanu and Phillips, 2004, Olaniran et al., 2013). At high pH, Cd forms precipitate with carbonates and phosphates which are insoluble and become adsorbed to solid matrices within the soil (Cheng et al., 2020). A slight alteration in pH can result in drastic changes in solubility and bioavailability of Cd. As reported by Olaniran et al., (2013), with an increase in pH from 6 to 7 in 1.3 mM phosphate, the solubility of Cd was reduced by a magnitude of 8.8 fold. The soil pH is therefore a critical factor influencing the bioavailability and uptake of cadmium by plants.

2.5.1.2 Organic matter

The organic matter within the soil is composed of complex chemical forms which are important in determining the extent of bioavailability of a metal. Metals tend to adsorb to humic substances and when complexes such as fulvic acids (low molecular weight) are formed they become soluble, which leads to increased levels of the metal within the soil solution. When humic acids (high molecular weight) are formed, metals become retained in insoluble form within the soil (Petruzzelli et al., 2020).

Organic matter is one of the factors that influence metal mobility in soil and enrichment of the soil with organic matter helps to increase the sorption of Cd to the solid phase (Kubier et al., 2019, Bashir et al., 2009, Hettiarachchi et al., 2003). Mani et al., (2014), reported that in soils with varying concentrations of Cd (0, 5, and 10 mg/kg), Cd accumulated the least in spinach cultivated on the soils that were amended with compost (20 t/ha). Also, a combined application of organic manure and lime helped to decrease Cd concentrations by 61.3% in cultivated spinach shoots in comparison with those grown on only soil (Kumarpandit et al., 2017).

2.5.1.3 Redox potential

The activity of free electrons plays a role in influencing the speciation of metals within the soil. Via reduction and oxidation reactions, redox potential (Eh) is formed. However, the formation of redox potential is relatively slow, most especially when it occurs within the soil environment (Olaniran et al., 2013). High redox potentials occur in well-drained soils while low potentials are present in highly saturated soils (Petruzzelli et al., 2020). Cd exists in its cationic form (i.e. Cd^{2+}) in high redox environments but the formation of precipitates such as CdS and CdCO₃ occur under low redox conditions (Sebastian and Prasad, 2014, Kubier et al., 2019). The form in which Cd is present in the soil, therefore, has an effect on the uptake by plants.

2.5.1.4 Cation exchange capacity

Charge density on surfaces of soil particles varies from soil to soil and it enables the exchange of metal cations, thereby resulting in sorption or desorption of metals within the soil (Kubier et al., 2019). Cation exchange capacity (CEC) is influenced by the type and quantity of clay and by the organic substances in the soil (Petruzzelli et al., 2020). At low pH, there is a high level of protonation (i.e. formation of H^+) and, this results in competition with the metals in the soil, thereby making H^+ attach to exchangeable sites on soil surfaces and yielding a high level of metal cations in solution (Petruzzelli et al., 2015).

With higher CEC, there is higher sorption of divalent metals such as Cd in the soil (Selles et al., 1996). Soil texture, which is determined by the percentage of sand, clay, or loam fractions also influences the cation exchange capacity. Bashir et al. (2009), reported that with an initial Cd concentration of 50 mg/kg in the soil, spinach leaves cultivated on silt clay, silt loam, and sandy loam soils accumulated 28.4 mg Cd/kg, 32.6 mg Cd/kg, and 35.6 mg Cd/kg respectively.

2.5.2 Climatic conditions

Climatic conditions, such as rainfall patterns, temperature, and sunshine also influence the uptake of metals by plants. Previous studies reveal that with a temperature rise there is a corresponding increase in Cd uptake by plants (Fritioff et al., 2005, Pourghasemian et al., 2013). Cadmium concentration in baby leaf spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) increased with a higher transpiration and atmospheric concentration of CO_2 (Chehine et al., 2014). Cultivation of spinach in water deficit conditions resulted in higher accumulations of Cd from the soil (Tack, 2017). However, it would be difficult to make a general conclusion as regards the impact of the watering regime on the uptake of Cd by spinach as there are currently limited studies on this factor.

2.5.2.1 Watering regime

Water plays a key role in the growth of plants, where several processes such as transport of nutrients and minerals, maintenance of plant structure, seed germination, biomass yield are influenced (Gonulal et al., 2021). An inadequate amount of water being applied below a plant's demand, could lead to excessive stress and eventual death of the plant. Variations in water content in the soil could alter properties such as pH and redox potential, which could eventually influence the transfer of metals to plants (Tang et al., 2020).

Interestingly, the impact of varying water during cultivation is not only visible in the shoots of the plants but also below the ground. Watering pattern in the soil, either through natural or human intervention, influences the microbial community within the soil and ultimately the uptake of metals by plants (Hu et al., 2013). Also, increased exposure to Cd in the rhizosphere could inversely result in water deficiency in the roots (Moya et al., 1993), thereby causing other effects e.g. decrease in root area (Vaculík et al., 2012). This could therefore have an impact on the concentration of metals that could be transported to the above-ground biomass.

Only a few studies have been reported as regards the influence of the watering regime on the uptake of Cd by spinach. Tack, (2017) stated that with high volume of water being applied daily "daily high" and with increasing volume of applied water, the uptake of Cd by spinach was relatively reduced in comparison to other treatments with lesser water application. Rao and Marthur, (1994) showed that water uptake from soil depends on the plant's demand and soil supply, which relatively influences the concentration of metal that could end up in the tissues of the plant. Determining the possible impact of different watering regimes on Cd uptake from soil and its accumulation in vegetables such as spinach is therefore important.

2.5.3 Plant physiology

Factors associated with plant physiology also play a role in the uptake of metals from the soil (Clemens et al., 2002). Variation in Cd uptake among leafy vegetables has been reported in various studies (Wang et al., 2009, Xue et al., 2014, Yin et al., 2016). Uptake and accumulation of metals vary not only from plant to plant but also among cultivars of the same species (Grant et al., 2008, Shen et al., 2021). In an experiment involving five cultivars of spinach in identical conditions, the least Cd concentrations were found in cultivar Bloomsdale in contrast with other cultivars, namely, Giant thick-leaved, Grodane, Mediana, and Spartacus which had higher Cd concentrations (Alexander et al., 2006). Also, Cd concentrations found in spinach shoots were within the range of 8.5 - 10.1 mg/kg and 6.1 - 6.6 mg/kg for high and low Cd cultivars respectively, under low Cd treatment (8.9 μ mol Cd L⁻¹) (Yin et al., 2016). An alternative strategy for preventing Cd from entering the human food chain can therefore be the selection of cultivars with low-Cd uptake in their edible parts (Huang et al., 2015, Xin et al., 2013).

2.6 Estimating concentrations of metals in soil

Since varying factors including soil properties, soil chemistry, and soil-plant relationships can affect the bioavailability of metals in the soil, various soil-testing methods have been developed to determine different fractions of metals in the soil. Estimating concentrations of metals is often carried out via extraction protocols (single or sequential extraction processes) which enables a better understanding of the partitioning of metals within the soil (Rauret et al., 1999, Meers et al., 2007).

The chemical form of metal within the soil also influences its mobility, which then affects the potential uptake by plants. More soluble forms of metal can be easily extracted in comparison to adsorbed forms on organic matter or mineral particles. With the use of different extraction techniques, various forms of metal can thus be easily extracted. Time of equilibration, liquid to solid ratio, and molar concentration as specified by the extraction protocol are key parameters influencing the effective extraction of metals from the soil (Meers et al., 2007).

2.6.1 Soil pore-water sampling

Within the soil, metals can be present in water-soluble forms which tend to easily migrate from the soil matrix into the soil water solution. In order to assess the readily bioavailable fraction of metals, soil pore water can be collected and analyzed (Meers et al., 2007). There are numerous soil pore-water sampling methods, but the negative pressure Rhizon sampler (Figure 1) is highly used.



Figure 1. Schematic of a rhizon sampler (from 'Rhizon soil moisture sampler: operating instructions'; <u>www.eijkelkamp.com</u>)

2.6.2 Diffusive Gradient in Thin Films (DGT)

The DGT is a simple device that can be used for measuring the concentration of trace metals and for determining their bioavailable fractions in soils (Zhang, 2003). It is made of a plastic material with a base that is 2.5 cm in diameter. It consists of a window, cap, and piston (Figure 2a). The casing has a resin layer (0.4 mm), diffusive gel (0.8 mm), and a membrane filter, also referred to as a diffusive boundary layer (DBL) (0.14 mm). The resin layer is made of a chelex material which is infused with a hydrogel to accumulate the soluble metals from the soil. As depicted (Figure 2b), the resin layer is overlain by the diffusive gel and membrane filter. Metal ions present in the saturated soil have to diffuse through the membrane filter and diffusive gel to get to the resin layer. Acting as an infinite sink, the resin gel allows for the resupply of ions from the soil (Egene et al., 2018).



Figure 2. a) A typical DGT device

b) Cross-sectional view of a DGT

Dissociation and migration of metals from the soil eventually result in the formation of a diffusive gradient within the diffusive layer of the device (Figure 3) (Sun et al., 2013).



Figure 3. Diffusion of metal ions from the solid phase into the DGT device (Li et al., 2019a).

A ratio (R) can therefore be established between the concentration of metals on the resin layer (C_{DGT}) and the concentration of metals in the soil pore water (C_{sol}), this also depicts the soil kinetics in resupplying solutes to the DGT device (Egene et al., 2018).

$$\mathbf{R} = \frac{C_{DGT}}{C_{sol}}, \ 0 < \mathbf{R} < 1 \tag{1}$$

An R-value closer to 1 indicates a fast release of metals from the solid phase to the soil solution, while an R-value close to 0.1 depicts a slow release of metals to the soil solution (Egene et al., 2018).

2.6.3 Single chemical extractions

2.6.3.1 Inorganic salt-based extractions

Soil particles are generally negatively charged, which results in the adsorption of cations within the soil. An inorganic salt-based solution such as $0.01 \ M \ CaCl_2$ can be used to determine the bioavailability of metals in soil samples. Some advantages of utilizing this extraction compound include: it has the same ionic strength as natural soil, no need for pH buffering, and Ca^{2+} ensures good coagulation of colloids in suspension (Houba et al., 2000). Using 0.01 M CaCl₂ enables metals that are weakly adsorbed to the soil to be extracted into the soil-water solution and metal content determination can therefore proceed at the laboratory.

2.6.3.2 Complexant-extractable metals

A mixture of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and Ammonium acetate (NH₄OAc) can be used as a complex extractant to determine the bioavailability of trace metals (Lakanen and Erviö, 1971, Meers et al., 2007). A major role of complex extraction is to imitate the root zone of plants in the soil. The function of EDTA and acetic acid is analogous to the complexation of metals by root exudates in the soil, while NH₄⁺ has the potential to replace the exchangeable metal fractions. The acidity level (pH 4.65) during this extraction process is quite similar to the pH in the rhizosphere (Meers et al., 2007). Acid extractable and reducible fractions of metals in soil can be extracted with NH₄OAc-EDTA while oxidizable and residual fractions are not affected by this extraction process (Tack and Verloo, 1996).

2.6.4 Sequential Extraction

2.6.4.1 Modified Bureau Communautaire de Reference (BCR)

Initially, BCR proposed a standard procedure for the sequential extraction of soils and sediments (Quevauviller, 1998). However, the procedure was later modified because the solution of the reducible fraction was not sufficiently buffered, leading to low reproducibility (Rauret et al., 1999). No single extraction procedure can provide adequate information on the total metal concentration in the soil due to the distribution of metals in various forms and pools within the soil. The modified BCR (a three-stage sequential extraction) as proposed by the Bureau Communautaire de Reference, has been used in various experiments to further analyze contaminated soils, and data obtained from these analyses are been used to predict the mobility of metals within the soil (Caraballo et al., 2018, Sungur et al., 2014, Deng et al., 2019).

Through the adoption of this sequential extraction technique, extensive information can be derived on the mode of occurrence, source of contamination (Pueyo et al., 2008), physicochemical and biological availability, and transfer of trace metals in the soil (Sungur et al., 2014). Rather than determining the pseudo-total concentrations of heavy metals, understanding their speciation pattern and distribution in the soil is of greater importance (Sungur et al., 2014, Fernández-Ondoño et al., 2017). With the aid of the modified BCR, three steps of extraction are employed, namely: (i) extraction of exchangeable and weak acid-soluble fractions bound to carbonates, (ii) extraction of reducible fractions (bound to Mn and Fe oxides), and (iii) extraction of oxidizable fractions (bound to sulfides and organic matter) (Sungur et al., 2014, Pueyo et al., 2008).

2.6.5 Total metal content determination

Quantification of heavy metal content in the soil is carried out via various analytical methods which include digestion of the soil samples. A key protocol used in obtaining pseudo-total content of heavy metals in the soil is aqua regia digestion (Chopin and Alloway, 2007, Fernández-Ondoño et al., 2017). In an environmental matrix, aqua regia extraction is sometimes less preferred because it underestimates metal concentration such as Cd, Ni, Co, and Cr by up to 50% (Ščančar et al., 2000, Taraškevičius et al., 2013). However, in the topsoil (0 - 30 cm), where residual silicates are not in high concentrations, results derived from aqua regia digestion represent the total metal content (Martín et al., 2006). Aqua regia digestion is dependent on some factors such as the composition and distribution of the matrix (mainly organic matter) and the element to be analyzed (Liu et al., 2020, Sastre et al., 2002).

2.7 Spinach

Spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) is one of the important vegetables in the Amaranthaceae family. Spinach can grow in temperatures between $5 - 30^{\circ}$ C and also in freezing conditions (-9 to -6°C) (Koike et al., 2011). However, temperatures between 15 - 18°C result in the high growth of spinach (Parwada et al., 2020, Koike et al., 2011). Spinach tolerates frost conditions and can be planted throughout the entire year (Ogbaji et al., 2018).

Spinach can be grown on a wide variety of soil types, however, it gives a higher yield when grown on sandy loam soils compared to other soil types (Anwar et al., 2017). The vegetable has an initial growth rate that is quite slow but a high growth during the last 3 weeks before harvest (Bergquist, 2006). Soil pH between 6 - 7.5 is most preferred to cultivate the crop. Furthermore, spinach is classified as a moderately salt-sensitive crop (Shannon and Grieve, 1998). A hot climate, most especially when combined with a lack of water in the soil, could cause undesirable stress which may eventually lead to the death of spinach.

Stages of Spinach growth (Figure 4) can be generally classified into three, namely: (i) seedling growth stage (A - B) (ii) vegetative stage (C - E) (iii) flowering and seed formation stage (beyond E). Approximately 4 - 11 days are required for the development of its first true leaves (Bokov et al., 2020). However, germination, seedling growth, elongation of the root, photosynthesis, chlorophyll content, and metabolites in spinach are generally reduced when grown in stressed conditions such as saline soils (Kaya et al., 2002, Kim et al., 2021). With a daylight period of 10 - 12 hours, *S. oleracea* intensively grows and this favours the formation of big rosette leaves (Bokov et al., 2020). At the point of harvest i.e. 35 days of cultivation, spinach leaves can reach up to 7.5 - 10 cm in height (Parwada et al., 2020).



Figure 4. Cultivation stages of spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*). Image adapted from Noordijk et al., (2016). "A" represents spinach seed. "B" represents a developing seedling. "C" represents the development of 2 leaf rosette. D represents the formation of 3 leaves rosette. E represents the formation of 7 leaves rosette.

With a cultivation area of 4,540 Ha and a yield of 208,370 Hg/Ha, Belgium amasses 14% (94,600 tons) of the total production of spinach in Europe. Belgium currently ranks as the third highest producer of spinach after Italy (99,870 tons) and France (97,110 tons) (FAO, 2020). Various countries have benefited from the nutritional and economic power of cultivating, processing, packaging, storing, transporting and sales of spinach. Appendix 6, provides nutritional information on spinach. Spinach is comprised of some human-needed elements such as Fe, Ca, P, Mg, and Mn (USDA, 2020). Some health benefits of spinach include, regulation of blood pressure, maintenance of a healthy brain, boosting the immune system and prevention against the risk of cancers. It also contains chlorophyll which aids in the digestion of food (Verma, 2018).

2.8 Soil amendments for stabilizing metals in soil

Over the years, various studies have been carried out on how best to manage metal contamination in soils (Ashrafi et al., 2015, Xu et al., 2021). Soil stabilization is classified as a potential option in managing heavy metal contaminated soils. Figure 5, presents a classification of soil amendments in three major classes, namely: organics (animal manure, biosolids, biochar, etc), inorganics (lime, phosphate, and gypsum), and minerals (sepiolite, zeolite, and bentonite). More details are provided on the various classes of soil amendments.

2.8.1 Inorganic soil amendments

In recent years, clay has been introduced into the soil for the stabilization of heavy metals (Hamid et al., 2019). The negatively charged ions of clay materials allow for the adsorption of metals through direct bonding, ion exchange, or complexation (Ahumada et al., 2014). 2:1 clay mineral such as sepiolite has been reported to show strong sorption with Cd in contaminated soils (Padilla-Ortega et al., 2013, Hamid et al., 2021). Crystalline aluminum-silicate minerals such as zeolites are also known for their ability to immobilize trace metals and micro-elements due to their relatively high adsorptive capacity (Hamid et al., 2019). The application of inorganic amendments such as montmorillonite (Qin et al., 2020), lime (Shaheen and Rinklebe, 2015) have also been reported to reduce the bioavailability of metals in the soil. The addition of lime increases soil pH, thereby decreasing the solubility of Cd and consequently its uptake by plants (Hamid et al., 2019, Liu et al., 2014). Nonetheless, liming of contaminated sites requires a repetitive application of lime within 2-3 years (Sharma and Nagpal, 2018).

The addition of phosphate compounds has also been reported in various experiments for stabilizing heavy metals in the soil through the formation of metal-phosphate precipitates (Yang et al., 2018, Kastury et al., 2019). Through the incorporation of water-soluble and insoluble phosphate compounds, the mobility of metals in the soil is reduced by adsorption, precipitation, and complexation. The presence of apatite and rock phosphate in the soil also helps to decrease the uptake and accumulation of metals by plants (Chen et al., 2007). However, the application of phosphorus fertilizers can introduce some trace metals such as Cd into the soil (Bi et al., 2006, Li et al., 2020). Moreover, Hamid et al., (2019), states that the ionic strength of soil is invariably affected through the application of phosphate fertilizers, which reduces the sorption of Cd onto the soil thereby resulting in an increase of Cd in the soil solution.

2.8.2 Organic soil amendments

Materials rich in organic matter content such as crop residues and animal waste e.g. farmyard manure (Hamid et al., 2019) and poultry manure (Azeez et al., 2019, Ihnat and Fernandes, 1996) are used as sources of nutrients and for the immobilization of heavy metals in the soil. Stabilization of heavy metals by the action of organic wastes depends on some factors such as soil pH, nature of metal, soil type, and organic material properties (Hamid et al., 2019). With increased levels of organic matter in the applied waste, there is generally a corresponding decrease in the mobility and bioavailability of metals through the formation of organometallic complexes (Du et al., 2021, Mani et al., 2014).

The addition of organic amendments does not reduce metal concentration in the soil but only reduces their bioavailable fraction within the soil pore water. Indeed, materials such as biosolids, compost, and manures, contain high levels of humic substances which helps to reduce the bioavailability of metals through the process of adsorption or complexation to form stable complexes (Clemente et al., 2015). As

a result of the large molecular size of humic acid, they become retained within the soil thereby reducing the potential uptake of metals by plants (Petruzzelli et al., 2020).



Figure 5. Classification of soil amendments and their various processes used in immobilizing Cd (Hamid et al., 2019)

2.9 Biochar as a soil amendment for stabilizing heavy metals in soil

Thermo-chemical conversion of biomass in an oxygen-limited environment, otherwise referred to as pyrolysis, results in the production of a carbon-rich material commonly referred to as biochar (Narzari et al., 2015, Ge et al., 2020). Pyrolysis can be further divided into different types, namely (i) fast pyrolysis, which operates at a temperature of about 500°C and produces biochar (12%), bio-oil (75%), and syngas (13%). (ii) slow pyrolysis ($1 - 10^{\circ}$ C min⁻¹), which produces biochar (35%), bio-oil (30%), and syngas (35%). Other processes that produce biochar includes, gasification and carbonization. (Narzari et al., 2015). Selection of biomass such as wood, rice straw, bamboo, spruce-tree, etc, for the production of biochar, depends on some factors which include, lignocellulosic content, pH value, energy content, particle size, moisture content, and volatility (Ge et al., 2020).

Biochar effectively contributes to numerous environmental and agricultural benefits (Tack and Egene, 2019, Beesley et al., 2010). Active functional groups, high pH, large surface area, and high CEC are key properties that influence metal retention unto biochar (Zhang et al., 2017). Due to the physical and chemical properties of biochar, metals can be potentially immobilized in the soil either by an increased level of sorption or by precipitation (Tack and Egene, 2019). The application of biochar can therefore influence the soil CEC, pH (Da Silva Mendes et al., 2021), organic carbon (Liu et al., 2018), and electrical conductivity and ultimately decrease bioavailable concentrations of metals in the soil (Guo et al., 2017, Nobaharan et al., 2022).

Biochar releases some important nutrients for plants, such as calcium (Ca), Mg, potassium (K), sodium (Na), and phosphorus (P) into the soil (Nobaharan et al., 2022). These minerals can eventually form mineral phases on the surface of biochar and increase the adsorption of metals from the soil solution (Rees et al., 2014). Biochar can immobilize metals through the processes of complexation, reduction, cation exchange, or precipitation (Figure 6). As a result of varying parameters in the production of biochar, there happen to be some differences in the interaction mechanisms between biochar and metals in the soil (Cheng et al., 2020). Adsorption of metals onto the surface of biochar is influenced by various factors such as the source of biomass, pyrolysis temperature, polarity, surface area, and target contaminant (Ahmad, 2014).



Figure 6. Possible interactions between metals and biochar in amended soils (Cheng et al., 2020).

Soluble fractions of Cd have been reported to be greatly reduced in soils amended with biochar (Egene et al., 2018). Soluble cadmium (Cd²⁺) combines with alkaline ions present within the biochar such as $H_2PO_4^{-}$ and HPO_4^{2-} to form insoluble precipitates such as cadmium hydrogen phosphate i.e. $Cd(H_2PO_4)^+$. The application rate of biochar influences the uptake and accumulation of metals by plants. This was demonstrated by Egene et al., (2018), wherein soil with 2% and 4% biochar resulted in a decrease of 40% and 66% of Cd respectively in pore water concentration.

Different authors have shown biochar to be an effective solution in reducing the uptake of Cd in spinach. In a biochar-amended sewage-irrigated contaminated soil, Cd concentrations in cultivated spinach were found to be 5.42 mg/kg in the control (i.e. soil with no biochar) and 3.45 mg/kg in treatments with 5% biochar (Younis et al., 2015). Nobaharan et al., (2022), reported that with the application of biochar derived from rice straw, Cd concentrations in *S. oleracea* effectively decreased by 30.6% and 38.9% in comparison with the spinach plants grown on the control soil. In addition, artificially contaminated soil (50 mg Cd kg⁻¹) with 5% rice stalk biochar was reported to yield 0.8 mg Cd/kg soil in cultivated spinach

in contrast to 1.5 mg Cd/kg in spinach grown on the control soil (Qayyum et al., 2019). In the current study, the effect of biochar application (2% and 4%, w/w) in decreasing Cd uptake by spinach was assessed.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Soil sampling and biochar used

Soil samples were collected from an agricultural land in Tournai, Belgium. Various crops such as vegetable and tuber crops are typically grown on the field. With the aid of spades, 2 holes were dug (15 - 20 m apart) to about 30 cm below the soil surface to retrieve a representative sample of the top 30 cm layer. At the greenhouse, the soil samples were spread on a geotextile material and partially covered to achieve air drying. Large clods were crushed by hands. Air drying of soil lasted for 5 days, then homogenization of the soil was carried out. The soil was mixed to ensure homogeneity among soil samples collected from both holes on the farmland.

Biochar was purchased from GreenPoch company (Fleurus, HAINAUT, Belgium). The biochar was produced from the wood of spruce trees, via the process of pyrolysis (600 - 700°C). The biochar was oven-dried at a temperature of 60°C for 48 hours. The biochar was crushed by hand and sieved through a 4.8 mm mesh sieve. The biochar was mixed with the soil based on the percentage requirement of the treatments i.e. 2% (36 g) and 4% (72 g) w/w on a dry weight basis. Pots were filled with 1.8 kg of substrate i.e., soil with or without biochar (dry weight basis). The substrate was filled into 57 pots and divided into 3 treatments, having 4 replicates per sub-treatment. An equal volume of water i.e., 70% field capacity of raw soil (soil with no biochar) was applied during the equilibration period, which lasted for two weeks. After the equilibration period, nine pots (i.e., 3 replicates from each treatment) were removed from the greenhouse in order to carry out further analysis in the laboratory.

3.2 Nursery

About 20 g of soil was placed within the compartments of a nursery rack and 10 seeds were placed into each compartment. Transparent polythene was then used to cover the nursery rack to maintain humidity and also aid seed germination. 50 ml of water was applied during the germination period i.e., 2 weeks.

3.3 Water holding capacity

To determine the water holding capacity, 50 g of substrate from the three treatments were weighed onto filter papers which were placed into measuring cylinders. Then 50 ml of water was added to the substrate. The volume of water retained by the substrate was deduced by measuring the volume of leached water after 1 hour.

3.4 Moisture content determination

For the determination of average moisture content of substrate, approximately 10 g (dried sample) was weighed in triplicates and placed in an oven (VWR, Dry-line 115) at 105°C for 24 hours. After 24 hours, the oven-dried samples were retrieved and weighed. The moisture content (%) of the sample was then determined by dividing the mass of water lost, by the mass of the oven-dried soil. This was performed before and after equilibration including every extraction that was performed later on.

In addition, about 2 kg of air-dried soil was saturated with water and placed into pots to determine the moisture content at field capacity after 48 hours. A geotextile was placed above the pots to prevent excessive evaporation. The moisture content at field capacity was then determined by placing the pots in an oven (VWR, Dry-line 115) at 60°C for 48 hours.

3.5 Determination of cadmium content in fertilizer using aqua regia digestion

Two different types of fertilizers (Universele Mersele Engrais, COMP-O) were digested to determine their level of Cd concentration. Both had similar contents: Nitrogen (12%), Phosphorus (12%), and Potassium (17%). However, before applying the fertilizer directly to the treatments, the Cd level contained in the fertilizers was determined. This was done by initially crushing about 5 g of both fertilizers with the aid of a mortar and pestle, then approximately 0.5 g of crushed fertilizers was placed into 50 ml Erlenmeyer flasks, this was performed in triplicates for both fertilizers. About 2 - 3 ml of Milli Q water was then added to each Erlenmeyer. 7.5 ml HCl (picopure, 34 - 37% concentrated) and 2.5 ml of nitric acid (picopure, 67% concentrated) were then added to each Erlenmeyer and gently shaken together and left for about 1 hour. The flasks were then covered with watch glasses and placed on a heating plate (Ceran Hotplate 11A, Hannover, Germany) at 100°C and 50 W for 2 hours. The temperature was then increased to 150° C for another 1 hour. After digestion, the sample was filtered into a conical flask using a filter paper (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) with a diameter of 125 mm and pore size of $0.2 \,\mu$ m, then diluted to 100 ml using 1% nitric acid before analysis.

3.6 Analysis of cadmium in solution

Depending on the expected concentration of ions e.g. Cd in solution, the inductively coupled plasmamass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (PerkinElmer, NexION 350D, Waltham, MA) or inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) (Thermo scientific, ICAP 7000 Series, Uk) was used for analysis. Prior to the measurement of samples on the ICP-OES or ICP-MS, the limit of detection (LOD) or the limit of quantification (LOQ) of samples are estimated. The LOD can be defined as the lowest possible concentration of an analyte within a matrix that can be detected (but not quantified) with a specific level of confidence. The LOQ, also referred to as the quantification limit, is the least possible concentration of an analyte that can be quantified within a matrix with acceptable accuracy and precision. LOD and LOQ depends on (i) the standard deviation (σ) of the measured element in blank samples and (ii) the slope (S) of the calibration curve obtained within the range of the LOD or LOQ (Shrivastava and Gupta, 2011). The ICP-OES and ICP-MS were employed when the limit of detection (LOD) was high (above 1 µg/L) or low (below 1 µg/L) respectively. In addition, for quality control (QC) of the analysis, an external sample with already known concentration of the analyte in a matrix was always measured. This implies that, the measurement of the QC was used to determine probable errors in the analysis of new samples.

3.7 Soil analysis

3.7.1 0.01 M calcium chloride (CaCl₂) extraction

Ten grams of the substrate was weighed into a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask and 50 ml of the extraction solution $(0.01 M \text{ CaCl}_2)$ was added to it. The flasks were then placed on an agitating table (Gesellschaft fur Labortechnik mbH D-30938 Burgwedel, Germany) for 2 hours and later filtered with filter paper into polythene flasks. One drop of concentrated HNO₃ (pico-pure) was added to the filtrate and stored in the refrigerator (4°C) for further analysis.

3.7.2 Ammonium acetate-EDTA pH 4.65 extraction

Ten grams of substrate was weighed into a 250 ml Erlenmeyer while 50 ml of the extraction solution (0.5 M NH₄OAc + 0.5 M HOAc + 0.02 M EDTA, pH 4.65) was added to it. The Erlenmeyer's were then placed on the agitating table for 30 minutes and was filtered with filter paper into polythene flasks. One drop of concentrated nitric acid (pico-pure) was added to the filtrate and stored in the refrigerator (4°C) prior to analysis.

3.7.3 Saturated paste extraction and electrical conductivity

Saturated paste extraction was performed to determine the electrical conductivity. 400 g of soil samples were weighed into plastic buckets and Milli Q water was gently added to it and stirred to form a paste. This was then left to stand for 12 hours until the next morning. However, based on the extraction protocol provided by Van Ranst et al. (1999), the buckets were not ready for the next phase as the soil became oversaturated. Therefore, a small amount of soil was then added to respective buckets until the oversaturated water became soaked with the new soil, this was then left again for another 4 hours.

When the soil attained a proper paste form i.e., the surface of the soil looked shiny, while scooping a portion of the mixture with a spatula resulted in the paste running off the spatula, then the extraction was performed using a Büchner funnel. The filtrate was then retrieved and some portion of it was used

for measuring the electrical conductivity using an electrical conductivity analyser (Consort, C6010, Belgium) while the remaining volume was used for measuring the Cd concentration on the ICP-MS.

3.7.4 Aqua regia digestion

To quantify the total Cd content in the soil samples i.e., soil with and without biochar, after equilibration, aqua regia digestion was performed (Ranst et al., 1999). With a ratio of 3:1, 7.5 ml of hydrochloric acid (pico-pure, 34 - 37% concentrated) and 2.5 ml of nitric acid (pico-pure, 67% concentrated) were added to 1 g of dried soil in 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks. The flasks were covered with watch glasses and heated on a heating plate at 50 W and 150° C for 2 hours. After digestion was carried out, filtration of the solutions was performed using a filter paper in a 100 ml volumetric flask, while the Erlenmeyer's and watch glasses were rinsed with Milli Q water and the rinse water was added to the volumetric flasks. Milli Q water was added directly to the filter paper to wash off remnants of the solution and to also make up 100 ml in the volumetric flask. The filtrate was then stored in the refrigerator (4°C) prior to analysis.

3.7.5 BCR sequential extraction

In order to distinguish different fractions of Cd in the substrate, the modified BCR sequential extraction designed by Rauret et al. (1999) was carried out. The BCR extraction enabled the determination of Cd concentration distributed across different fractions of the soil i.e., the reducible fraction, the oxidisable fraction, and the residual fraction.

3.7.6 pH of substrate

Fifty ml of Milli Q water was added to 10 g of the substrate in 100 ml Erlenmeyer and placed on a shaker overnight for equilibration. The next day, the Erlenmeyer's were retrieved, shaken, and left to settle before inserting a previously calibrated pH meter (Metrohm, Switzerland). Also, pH-KCl was determined by mixing 10 g of soil sample with 25 ml of 1 *M* potassium chloride solution. The mixture was placed on the shaker for 30 minutes for equilibration, then the pH was measured (Ranst et al., 1999).

3.7.7 pH-stat experiment

This experiment was performed to understand how Cd is being released from the soil relative to variation in pH. With the aid of an automatic device (Metrohm 718 Stat Titrino, Switzerland) four pH levels (i.e., 4, 5.5, 7, and 8) were maintained for 12 hours using 0.1 M HNO₃ or 0.1 M NaOH. After maintaining the desired pH for 12 hours, the suspension was extracted using a syringe and centrifuged before decanting the supernatant. Due to the excessive time required to successfully perform a pH-stat experiment on all treatments, this experiment was carried out only on the blank soil i.e., soil without biochar. The supernatant was then placed into the refrigerator at 4°C before analysis.

3.7.8 Buffering capacity

10 g of soil samples were mixed with 50 ml of Milli Q water in 250 ml Erlenmeyer flasks and placed on the shaker overnight for equilibration. The next day, the samples were retrieved and pH values of 4, 5.5, 7, and 8 were attained in each flask via titration using a burette filled with either 0.1 M HNO₃ or 0.1 M NaOH. The final volume of acid or base added was determined when the pH of the mixture did not change by 1 unit for 10 minutes. The buffering capacity was then calculated using equation (2) (Hajnos, 2011):

Buffer capacity =
$$\frac{dn}{d (pH)}$$
 (2)

Where, dn is amount of acid or base added (moles) to change 1L of buffer solution and d (pH) is the resulting change in pH.

3.7.9 Diffusive gradient in thin films (DGT)

To obtain more information on the kinetics of metal release in the soil, DGT soil samplers (DGT research Ltd, Lancaster, UK) were deployed for 24 hours following the protocol provided by Zhang, (2003). Soil samples (with and without biochar) were saturated with Milli Q water at 100% field capacity for 24 hours. With the aid of a spatula, a small quantity of the saturated soil was smeared on the surface of the DGT device then the DGT was placed directly on the soil surface and gently pressed into the soil. After 24 hours, the DGT device was retrieved and the attached soil was washed off using Milli Q water. The resin layer was retrieved and placed into 1 ml of 1*M* HNO₃ for 24 hours. After 24 hours, 0.4 ml was retrieved and diluted 15 times then kept in the refrigerator at 4°C before analysis on the ICP-MS. Determination of the fluxes and concentrations at the interface of the DGT and the soil was calculated using the following equations (3 – 5) (Zhang, 2003).

a)
$$M = \frac{Ce \left(V_{HNO3} + V_{gel} \right)}{f_e}$$
(3)

Where *M* is the mass of metal amassed on the resin gel (μ g), *Ce* is the concentration of metals in 1*M* HNO₃ (μ g/l), *V*_{HNO3} is the volume of HNO₃ added to the extracted resin gel (ml), *V*_{gel} is the volume of the resin gel, (typically 0.15 ml), and *f*_e is elution factor for each metal, typically 0.8.

b)
$$F = \frac{M}{tA}$$
 (4)

Where *F* is the flux of metal measured by the DGT (μ g s⁻¹ cm⁻²), t is the deployment time in seconds, and A is the exposure area, typically 3.14 cm²

c)
$$C_{DGT} = \frac{F\Delta g}{D}$$
 (5)

Where C_{DGT} is the concentration of metals on the resin gel layer (binding layer) (µg/L), Δg is the thickness of the filter membrane (0.14 mm) plus the thickness of the diffusive gel (0.8 mm), and D is the diffusion of coefficient of the metal in the gel (cm² s⁻¹).

3.7.10 Release kinetics

Cadmium release kinetics was determined by stirring a suspension of 10 g of soil (with and without biochar) in 50 ml of $0.01 M \text{ CaCl}_2$ on an agitating table, and sampling at different times i.e., after 1, 30, 60, 120, and 180 minutes. The pH and EC were measured directly in the soil suspension before transferring into centrifuge tubes. The tubes were then placed in a centrifuge (Eppendorf 5810R Series) and later filtered. About 10 ml of the filtered sample was poured into a polyethylene tube and the dissolved Cd was measured on the ICP-MS. Also, about 20 ml of the filtered sample was transferred into total organic carbon (TOC) glass bottles, then placed into a total organic carbon analyzer (TOC-VCSH, Germany) in order to measure the amount of TOC in each sample.

3.8 Cultivated plants and soils

After 2 weeks of equilibration, seeds were sown into all pots contained in each treatment. Each treatment had 16 pots with four replicates. Additional 2 weeks were provided to ensure proper germination of seeds, so commencement of treatment was 4 weeks after cultivation. For each treatment, the watering regime implemented was three-times watering per week (3XW), one-time watering per week (1XW), dry-wet watering (DWW), and wet-dry watering (WDW). Volume of water applied was calculated based on 70% field capacity of the control soil. After three and six weeks of treatment, plant height and no of flowers per pot were being noted of.

At the point of harvest i.e., ten weeks of cultivation, above-ground biomass from each pot was harvested. Plants were weighed and then dried using an oven (Memmert ULE 700, Germany) at 65°C for 72 hours. The dried plants were then again weighed and later crushed using a mortar and pestle before placing them in a milling machine (Fritsch 01692, 50 - 60 Hz, 740 W, Germany) in order to obtain a well-represented sample of the plants.

For determination of Cd concentration, 0.5 g of each plant was weighed into crucibles and was calcinated in a muffle furnace (Nabertherm, Germany) at 450°C for 2 hours. Then digestion was performed on a heating plate (Ceran Hotplate 11A, Hannover, Germany) at 150°C and 50 W, using 5 ml of 6M HNO₃ until the volume in each crucible was approximately 1 ml. 5 ml of 3M HNO₃ was later added and left to boil for 3 minutes before filtering into 50 ml volumetric flask while ensuring proper transfer from the crucible unto the filter paper. 1% HNO₃ was added directly onto the filter paper to quantitatively dilute the solution to the required mark in the Erlenmeyers. The samples were then placed into the refrigerator at 4°C for further analysis.
3.8.1 Rhizon sampling

Sampling of the soil solution was carried out using rhizon soil moisture samplers (SMS) (Eijkelkamp Agrisearch Equipment, Giesbeek, the Netherlands) which were placed in all 48 pots. Vacuum tubes were placed into the soil 24 hours after the watering of the pots was carried out. The vacuum tubes were then left in the pots for 24 hours to extract a sufficient amount of soil solution. Vacuum tubes were retrieved and transported for analysis. Then one drop of concentrated HNO₃ was added to each tube to prevent precipitation of metals to the walls of the tube. The tubes were then stored in the refrigerator at a temperature of 4°C for further analysis. Consequently, when the watering regimes started, rhizon sampling was carried out on a bi-weekly basis.

3.9 Postharvest soils

For the cultivated soils, $0.01 M \text{ CaCl}_2$ extraction procedure according to Van Ranst et al. (1999), was used for determining Cd concentration in 24 pots (8 pots per treatment) used in the experiment i.e., 3XW and 1XW for all treatments.

4 RESULTS

4.1 Soil and biochar characterization

Physicochemical properties of the soil and biochar used in the experiment were analysed and reported (Table 1). Following the soil classification provided by United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), the soil is classified as a sandy loam soil. The soil's moisture content at field capacity is 27%. The pH of the soil which is close to neutral suggests that adsorbed Cd in the soil could be present in forms such as CdCO₃ and CdHCO₃ (Olaniran et al., 2013). The cation exchange capacity (CEC) of the soil is typical for a sandy loam soil and it is expected to increase upon the addition of biochar. The higher the CEC, the higher the organic matter present in the soil which results in greater water retention ability (Ketterings et al., 2007). The biochar has a high level of total organic carbon (TOC) (83.4%). High TOC of biochar has been reported to facilitate soil fertility and promote biological processes within the soil (Wang et al., 2018, Sun et al., 2020).

Table 1. Physiochemical characteristics of the soil and biochar used (mean value \pm standard deviation, n = 3)

Parameter	Units	Soil	Biochar
Sand	(%)	20.50	-
Clay	(%)	12.04	-
Loam	(%)	67.49	-
Texture class		Sandy loam	-
Field capacity	(%)	27 ± 0.03	-
Moisture content	(%)	20.9 ± 0.9	-
Total organic carbon (TOC)	(%)	0.88	83.4
H/C	(%)	-	0.38
Cation exchange capacity (CEC)	Cmol ₊ /kg	8.85	-
Electrical conductivity (EC)	(dS/m)	0.64 ± 0.02	0.28 ± 0.01
pH-H ₂ 0	-	6.82 ± 0.12	9.7
pH-KCl	-	5.9 ± 0.1	-
Р	mg/kg	190	500
Mg	mg/kg	250	-
Na	mg/kg	14	-
Ca	mg/kg	1680	-
S	mg/kg	180	-
K	mg/kg	130	154
Cd	mg/kg	0.42 ± 0.03	$0.1\pm~0.0$
Ν	mg/kg	-	2210
Zn	mg/kg	-	66 ± 2
Mn	mg/kg	-	231 ± 13
Fe	mg/kg	-	1000 ± 0.0

4.2 Determination of easily extractable Cd in the soil using 0.01 M CaCl₂ extraction

After 2 weeks of equilibration, easily extractable Cd in soil treatments with 2% BC and 4% BC had significantly reduced (P < 0.05) by 36% and 52% respectively, in comparison to soil without biochar (Figure 7a). The influence of watering regime was quite evident in all treatments. Exchangeable Cd concentrations in the treatment with three-times watering (3XW) were lower in comparison to the treatments with one-time watering (1XW) (Figure 7b). There was a significant decrease in extractable Cd (mg/kg) (P < 0.05) in biochar amended soils compared to soils without biochar after equilibration and harvest. Determination of easily exchangeable concentrations of metals in the soil using 0.01 *M* CaCl₂, serves as an indicator of the metal pool that can be easily leached from the soil (Gandois et al., 2010). CaCl₂ extraction also acts as an equilibrium-based method to assess bioavailability of metals in soils (Ma et al., 2020).



Figure 7. a) CaCl₂-extractable Cd concentrations (mg/kg) in soil (with and without biochar) after 2 weeks of equilibration (mean values, n = 3). Error bars indicate standard deviation. Bars with the same letter are not statistically different (P > 0.05). b) CaCl₂-extractable Cd concentrations (mg/kg) in soil

(with and without biochar) after 10 weeks of cultivation period (mean values, n = 4). Error bars indicate standard deviation. Bars with the same letter are not statistically different (P > 0.05).

4.3 Determination of Cd concentration in the soil using ammonium acetate-EDTA extraction

Water soluble, acid extractable, and reducible fractions of Cd (mg/kg) in EDTA-extracts was ~ 0.2 mg/kg in all treatments after 2 weeks of equilibration. This caused insignificant difference (P > 0.05) among the treatments (Figure 8). Concentrations of Cd in EDTA extracts were much higher in comparison with extracts of CaCl₂, as hypothesized by earlier studies (Ma et al., 2020, Römkens et al., 2009). EDTA extraction could provide good indication of metal bioavailability in soils (Meers et al., 2007).



Figure 8. Cd concentration (mg/kg) released from the substrates by ammonium acetate-EDTA extraction solution (mean values, n = 3). Bars with the same letter are not statistically different (P > 0.05).

4.4 Pseudo-total Cd concentration in soils

Cd concentrations were measured to be 0.42 ± 0.03 mg/kg, 0.43 ± 0.03 mg/kg, and 0.44 ± 0.02 mg/kg for control soil, soil with 2% BC, and soil with 4% BC respectively. This revealed that the pseudo-total concentrations of Cd had no significant difference (P > 0.05) among soil treatments (with or without biochar). The measured concentrations of Cd is within the average concentration of Cd in a normal soil i.e. 0.01 to 1 mg Cd/kg (Kubier et al., 2019). This means that the soil has Cd concentrations within baseline contamination.

Furthermore, in order to determine the division of pseudo-total concentrations of Cd in various pools of the soil, the BCR protocol (Rauret et al., 1999) was implemented (Figure 9). The highest Cd

concentration i.e., $0.280 \pm 0.001 \text{ mg/kg}$, $0.270 \pm 0.004 \text{ mg/kg}$, and $0.260 \pm 0.001 \text{ mg/kg}$ were found in the reducible fraction (F2) of the control soil, soil with 2%, and 4% BC respectively, while the least Cd concentration (mg/kg) was found in the oxidizable fraction (F3) for all soils (with or without biochar).



Figure 9. Fractionation of Cd in various pools of the substrate. F1 represents the exchangeable pool. F2 represents the reducible pool. F3 represents the oxidizable pool. F4 represents the residual pool.

The sum of Cd concentrations recovered from each step of the BCR, was however more than the pseudo total Cd concentrations earlier determined via the aqua regia digestion. This resulted in a recovery rate of 110%, 105%, and 101% for the control soil, soil with 2% BC, and soil with 4% BC respectively. These recovery rates are very reasonable and may not be significantly different from 100%. For effectiveness of the experiment, lake sediment was used as a reference material as suggested by the protocol. The recovery rates of the reference material were 82%, 126%, 52%, and 85% for F1 (exchangeable fraction), F2 (reducible fraction), F3 (oxidizable fraction), and F4 (residual fraction) respectively.

4.5 Saturated paste extraction

Average Cd concentrations (μ g/L) measured during the saturated paste extraction were 1.50 ± 0.48 μ g/L, 0.94 ± 0.21 μ g/L, 0.43 ± 0.11 μ g/L for the control soil, 2% BC treatment, and 4 % BC treatment respectively. The amount of Cd released from the control soil was significantly higher (P < 0.05) than the treatment with 4% BC but not significantly different from the treatment with 2% BC. Also, the lowest value for EC (0.64 ± 0.01 dS/m) was measured in the control soil, followed by the 2% BC treatment (0.66 ± 0.01 dS/m), while the highest EC was observed in the 4% BC treatment (0.68 ± 0.01 dS/m). There was no significant effect (P > 0.05) of biochar addition on the soil EC.

4.6 Soil pore water

Concentration of Cd (μ g/L) in the soil pore water measured at 4 moments (Figure 10), revealed the impact of biochar on the availability of Cd within the soil solution. For each sampling of the rhizon during the cultivation period, Cd concentrations in the control soil was always higher in comparison with biochar amended soils. At the end of the experiment i.e., 10 weeks of cultivation, initial Cd concentration (μ g/L) in soil pore water of the control soil increased within the range of 31% - 124%, while the initial Cd concentration (μ g/L) in soil pore-water for treatments with 2% BC decreased within the range of 11% - 38%. A percentage decrease between 53% - 74% was observed for treatments amended with 4% BC.

Only extreme conditions i.e. 3XW and 1XW, are shown (Table 2 and Figure 10). This is because, change in Cd concentration (μ g/L) in DWW was not significantly different (P > 0.05) from 3XW, while change in Cd concentration (μ g/L) in WDW was not significantly different (P > 0.05) from 1XW. In all treatments, pH measurement on soil pore-water after 3 weeks of treatment was higher than pH after 6 weeks of treatment except for control soil under DWW condition (Appendix. 5).

Table 2. Cd concentration (μ g/L) in soil pore water at extreme watering conditions (3XW and 1XW).
Means and standard deviation are shown ($n = 3$). Values with the same letter are not statistically different
(P > 0.05).

Treatment	Watering regime	3 weeks of treatment	6 weeks of treatment
Control soil	3XW	0.58 ± 0.22 a	$0.62\pm0.49~b$
2% BC	3XW	$0.38\pm0.10 \text{ ab}$	$0.34\pm0.18\ \text{bc}$
4% BC	3XW	$0.20\pm0.08\ bc$	$0.15\pm0.09~c$
Control soil	1XW	$0.59\pm0.16\;a$	$1.05\pm0.04\ a$
2% BC	1XW	$0.20\pm0.07~bc$	$0.27\pm0.11~\text{bc}$
4% BC	1XW	$0.16\pm0.14\ c$	$0.22\pm0.07~bc$



Figure 10. Cd concentrations in soil pore-water (μ g/L) in soil (with and without biochar) at different timepoints under the wet condition (3XW) and dry condition (1XW). Error bars represent standard deviation (n = 4).

4.7 pH stat and buffering capacity

Cd release from the control soil at varying pH values (4 - 8) was determined (Figure 11). About 7.48 μ g Cd/L was released at pH 4, while a reduction in Cd concentration to 0.23 μ g/L was measured at pH 8. This is in line with various studies on Cd release from the soil at varying pH levels (Houben et al., 2013, Ur Rahman et al., 2021). This reveals that at low pH, the bioavailability and uptake of Cd by plants becomes higher in comparison with basic soils.

Cd release using the pH stat experiment could not be performed on the biochar amended soils and this prevented a comparison of Cd release among the treatments. However, buffering capacity of soil (with and without biochar) was performed. Alteration in pH of soils followed the same buffering pattern (Figure 12).



Figure 11. Release of Cd (μ g/L) from control soil at varying pH.

During the reduction of average pH to acidic pH i.e., 4 in each treatment, the buffering capacity calculated was 2.17 ± 0.13 mol/L, 2.13 ± 0.11 mol/L, and 2.26 ± 0.19 mol/L for the control soil, treatment with 2% BC and 4% BC respectively. There was no significant difference (P > 0.05) between buffering capacity among the substrates. Nonetheless, biochar amended soils required more volume of titrate (0.1 *M* HNO₃) to achieve a lower pH such as 4 and 5.5, while the control soil required more titrate (0.1 *M* NaOH) to reach higher pH levels such 8.





Figure 12. pH buffer curves for soils (with and without biochar) for different pH's a) pH 4 (b) pH 5.5 (d) pH 7 and (e) pH 8. Error bars signify the standard errors (n = 3).

4.8 Release kinetics

Cd release as a function of time (1 - 180 minutes) using 0.01 *M* CaCl₂ extraction solution revealed that BC amended soils significantly decreased (P < 0.05) the release of Cd (µg/L) from the soil (Figure 13). After 180 minutes of extraction time, the release of Cd into solution decreased by 46% and 58% in the 2% BC and 4% BC respectively in comparison to the control soil. Cd release from the control soil and 2% BC treatments followed quite similar pattern. After 60 minutes of extraction, the treatment with 4% BC showed a reduction in Cd that was being released into the soil solution.

With an increase in extraction time, there was an increase in the release of total organic carbon (TOC) and electrical conductivity (EC) for all treatments (Figure 13 c and d). TOC release from the control soil, soil with 2% BC and soil with 4% BC ranged between 13.6 - 23.5 mg/L, 12.9 - 24.2 mg/L, 19.4 - 24.2 mg/L respectively. Change in EC for the control soil, and treatments with 2% BC and 4% BC were within the range of 2.01 - 2.10 dS/m, 2.02 - 2.11 dS/m, 2.03 - 2.12 dS/m respectively. Variations in TOC and EC resulted in no significant difference (P > 0.05) among the treatments. Levels of pH for all treatments did not change more than 1 unit within the total extraction period. As expected, the treatments with biochar had a higher pH relative to the control soil without biochar.



Figure 13a) Concentration of Cd (μ g/L) released from each treatment with time. b) Change in pH of soil treatments with time. c) Change in electrical conductivity (dS/m) of soil treatments with time. d) Change in total organic carbon concentration (mg/L) of soil treatments with time. Errors bars represent standard deviation (n = 3).

4.9 Concentration of Cd measured by DGT

The highest concentration of Cd $(0.36 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g/L)$ measured on the surface of the DGT device (C_{DGT}) was obtained in the control soil while the lowest concentration $(0.14 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g/L)$ was found in the treatment with 4% BC (Table 3). In all treatments, the initial Cd concentration $(\mu g/L)$ in soil pore-water (C_{sol}) was higher than the C_{DGT} . The R value, that which represents the ratio of resupply of metal from the solid phase, was 0.2, 0.3, and 0.8 for the treatments with 4% BC, 2% BC, and control soil

respectively. Also, the effective concentration (C_E) of Cd directly relates to plant uptake (Egene et al., 2018). C_E was significantly higher (P < 0.05) in the control soil in comparison to biochar amended soils. Cd fluxes measured by the DGT device was 18.3 x 10⁻⁹ µg s⁻¹ cm⁻², 8.86 x 10⁻⁹ µg s⁻¹ cm⁻², and 8.44 x 10⁻⁹ µg s⁻¹ cm⁻² for the control soil, treatment with 2% BC and 4% BC respectively. A case of partial sustenance can be attributed to the three treatments because their R values were < 0.95. This implies that there is a supply of solute from the solid phase but it is insufficient to fully sustain the pore water concentration (Zhang, 2003). However, R values closer to 1 means a rapid resupply from the solid phase, while values closer to 0.1 signify a slow resupply of metal (Egene et al., 2018). This therefore suggests a slow resupply of Cd from the solid phase for the biochar treatments (2% BC and 4% BC) but a high resupply of Cd for the control soil

Table 3. Concentration of Cd in the pore water (C_{sol}) determined from initial rhizon extract, concentration of Cd measured by DGT device (C_{DGT}), effective concentration (C_E) measured by the DGT device, and the ratio (R) of C_{DGT} to C_{sol} . Means and standard deviation are shown (n = 3).

	C _{sol} (µg/L)	C_{DGT} (µg/L)	$C_E(\mu g/L)$	R	Resupply of Cd
Control soil	0.47	0.36 ± 0.04	3.49 ± 0.41	0.8	Rapid
Soil with 2% BC	0.45	0.16 ± 0.03	1.46 ± 0.4	0.3	Slow
Soil with 4% BC	0.57	0.14 ± 0.04	1.39 ± 0.36	0.2	Slow

4.10 Spinach

After 2 weeks of planting, there was less homogeneity in germination among the treatment with 4% BC, so two additional weeks were provided to achieve germination of new seeds. After 3 weeks of treatment (Plate 1 and Appendix 1), mean height of plants (cm) with 4% BC, was higher (P < 0.05) in comparison with the control soil for all watering regimes except for WDW regime. Also, the mean height of the plants with 2% BC (1XW and DWW) were significantly higher (P < 0.05) than that of the control soil. Bolting was observed among all treatments after 7 weeks of planting i.e. 3 weeks of treatment. This could be linked to stressed growing conditions of the plants which could also limit the plant's physiochemical properties.



Plate 1. Spinach after 7 weeks of planting (which includes 3 weeks of treatment). "A" Control soil (3XW). "B" Soil with 2% BC (3XW). "C" soil with 4% BC (3XW).

At the start of the second phase of treatment i.e., 8 weeks of planting, fertilizer was added once again to each pot due to gradual yellowing of plants. Yellowing of leaves was first observed among old leaves. This could be linked to nitrogen deficiency in the plant (Machado et al., 2020, Sawyer, 2010). Spinach is also reported to have a large demand for nitrogen during its vegetative growth (Nemadodzi et al., 2017, Zikalala et al., 2017). Despite the presence of biochar and fertilization at the start and mid-cultivation, all treatments still showed signs of yellowed leaves. Biochar has the potential to improve plant health, however due to its high carbon content, plant available nitrogen gradually gets depleted due to the microbial immobilization of nitrogen (Phillips et al., 2022).

Concentrations of major nutrients such as Mg, Ca, Zn, and Fe (mg/100 g,) were significantly higher (P < 0.05) in spinach (DW) compared to average concentrations in spinach leaves (DW) (USDA, 2020) (Appendix 3). Lower concentrations of potassium (K) and phosphorus (P) was observed across all treatments irrespective of the substrate or watering regime. This could be as a result of under-fertilization with K and P during cultivation (Prajapati and Modi, 2012).

After harvest i.e., 10 weeks of cultivation (Plate 2 and Appendix 2) which involved 6 weeks of treatment with biochar, there were signs of increased stress such as fallen stems and brown leaves among the treatments. Average biomass yield (Figure 14a) in harvested spinach for all treatments per watering regime was not significantly different (P > 0.05) using the post-hoc Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT).



Plate 2. Spinach after 10 weeks of planting (which includes 6 weeks of treatment). "A" Control soil (3XW). "B" Soil with 2% BC (3XW). "C" soil with 4% BC (3XW).

In the control soil and 2% BC treatment, biomass yield under DWW was significantly higher (P < 0.05) than 1XW and WDW. In the 4% BC treatments, the biomass yield under 3XW and DWW watering regimes, were significantly higher (P < 0.05) than treatments with 1XW and WDW. Highest biomass yield (i.e., 22 g, fresh weight) was observed under 2% BC (DWW) and 4% BC (DWW), while the lowest

biomass yield (i.e., 10 g, fresh weight) was measured under the control soil (WDW) and 2% BC (WDW). Moisture content (%) in harvested spinach was obtained after determining the dry biomass yield (g) per treatment (Figure 14b). The highest moisture content (86%) was obtainable under treatment 4% BC (DWW), while 2% BC (WDW) had the least moisture content (71%). Table 4, shows the ratio between dry biomass yield (g) to fresh biomass yield (g). Dry biomass yield (g) of spinach cultivated under 2% BC and 4% BC treatment was not significantly different (P > 0.05) to those grown on the control soil.



Figure 14. a) Biomass yield (g) of spinach (fresh weight) per treatment. b) Biomass yield (g) of spinach (dry weight) per treatment. Mean value (n = 4) and standard deviation are shown. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

The ratio between dry and fresh biomass varied across the three treatments. Variations in this ratio is influenced by moisture content in plants, which is also influenced by the watering regime being applied. The highest ratio (0.31 ± 0.05) and least ratio (0.14 ± 0.02) were observed under 4% BC (WDW) and

4% BC (DWW) respectively. Watering regimes with 1XW were not significantly different (P > 0.05) from WDW conditions.

Table 4. Ratio of dry to fresh biomass yield (g) per treatment as a function of watering regime^a. Averages sharing the same letter are not significantly different^b.

		Ratio of dry-fresh biomass yield per	
	Control soil	Soil with 2% BC	Soil with 4% BC
3XW	$0.27 \pm 0.15 \text{ abc}$	0.20 ± 0.01 bcde	$0.18\pm0.03~\text{cde}$
1XW	$0.16\pm0.02~\text{de}$	0.20 ± 0.06 bcde	0.27 ± 0.03 abc
DWW	$0.16\pm0.02\;de$	0.20 ± 0.03 bcde	$0.14\pm0.02\;e$
WDW	$0.25\pm0.04\ abcd$	$0.29 \pm 0.08 \text{ ab}$	0.31 ± 0.05 a

 $^{a}Means \pm standard deviation$

^bPost-hoc Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) at 5% level of confidence

4.10.1 Cd accumulation in spinach

Total above ground biomass was analysed as a result of low biomass (≤ 5 g, fresh weight) of harvested spinach (which includes only stem and leaves) from the control soil (3 pots) and the treatment with 2% BC (1 pot). The total above ground biomass includes stem, leaves, flowers, and seeds.

Concentration of Cd in harvested spinach was evaluated using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Post-hoc analysis (P < 0.05) was performed using the DMRT in order to define mean pairs that were significantly different. Highest Cd concentration i.e., 0.71 mg/kg was observed under treatment with 2% BC (WDW), while treatment with 4% BC (3XW) resulted in the least Cd concentration i.e., 0.29 mg/kg. No significant difference (P > 0.05) in Cd concentration (mg/kg) for all treatments (with or without biochar) cultivated under 3XW regime (Figure 15).

Interestingly, Cd concentration (mg/kg) observed in the control soil under the 1XW was significantly lower (P < 0.05) in comparison to treatments with 4 % BC but not significantly different from that of 2% BC. This is a strange occurrence, as biochar amended soils were hypothesized to yield less uptake of Cd in cultivated plants. In addition, watering regime had significant effect (P < 0.05) in biochar amended soils compared to the control soil.



Control Soil with 2% biochar Soil with 4% biochar

Figure 15. Cd concentration (mg/kg) in harvested spinach (fresh weight). 3XW is three-times watering per week, 1XW is one-time watering per week, DWW is dry-wet watering, WDW is wet-dry watering. Error bars represents standard deviation (n = 4). Bars sharing the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05).

4.10.2 Bioaccumulation in plants

The ratio between Cd concentration in plants (fresh weight) to Cd concentration in the soil (dry weight) can be used to obtain a bioaccumulation factor for the cultivated plants. Highest accumulation of Cd in spinach was observed under treatment with 2% BC (WDW), while the least was found in 4% BC (3XW). No significant effect of watering regime was observed within the control treatment (Table 5). With 2% BC treatment, Cd accumulation in plants cultivated under WDW was significantly higher (P < 0.05) in comparison to other watering conditions. 3XW and DWW conditions resulted in significantly lower (P < 0.05) Cd accumulation compared to 1XW and WDW under 4% BC treatment.

Table 5. Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) for all treatments. Values represent mean and standard deviations (n = 4). "3XW" is three-times watering per week. "1XW" is one-time watering per week. "DWW" is dry-wet watering. "WDW" is wet-dry watering. Mean values sharing the same letter are not significantly different^a.

		BAF in treatments	
	Control soil	Soil with 2% BC	Soil with 4% BC
3XW	1.183 ± 0.65 abc	$0.88 \pm 0.21 \ bcd$	$0.64\pm0.19\;d$
1XW	$0.81 \pm 0.07 \ bcd$	$1.13\pm0.24~bcd$	$1.28\pm0.30\ ab$
DWW	$0.79\pm0.07\ bcd$	$0.94 \pm 0.08 \text{ bcd}$	$0.71\pm0.17\ cd$
WDW	1.26 ± 0.35 ab	1.65 ± 0.49 a	1.28 ± 0.23 ab

^aPost-hoc Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) at 5% level of confidence

4.10.3 Total water added

For the first 30 days of cultivation, all pots were watered equally (Figure 16). Volume of water added (L) for the first two weeks of treatment was based on 70% field capacity of individual treatments. However, for the last 4 weeks of treatment, volume of water applied (L) was based on the field capacity of the control soil i.e., soil without biochar. A cumulative volume of 5.59 L, 3.35 L, 4.69 L, and 3.69 L of water was added to the treatments with 3XW, 1XW, DWW, and WDW respectively.



Figure 16. Cumulative amount of water applied (L) to all treatments. Data points represent mean value (n = 4). "3XW" is three-times watering per week. "1XW" is one-time watering per week. "DWW" is dry-wet watering. "WDW" is wet-dry watering.

5 DISCUSSION

5.1 Cadmium in soil and plant on the control soil

Cultivation of spinach on Cd-contaminated soil is expected to yield higher concentrations of Cd in spinach compared to soils having baseline concentrations of Cd. Nonetheless, farmers have claimed it could be difficult to meet the permissible limits of Cd in spinach i.e., 0.2 mg/kg (fresh weight) despite its cultivation on soils with baseline concentrations (Tack, 2022). Baldantoni et al., (2016), stated that Cd exceedance in spinach can be attributed to the fact that spinach naturally has a high tendency to accumulate Cd from the soil.

With respect to the limit provided by the European Commission (2015), the concentrations of Cd observed in this experiment for harvested spinach (FW) are considerably high i.e., > 0.2 mg/kg (fresh weight). However, as earlier stated, Cd determination in this study was based on the entire above ground biomass, whereas the permissible limit is based only on freshly harvested spinach leaves. Nonetheless, the measured concentrations of Cd in the spinach are still of concern as the soil used in this experiment was not contaminated, but with baseline concentration i.e., 0.42 mg Cd/kg. Consequences of exceeding Cd concentrations in harvested spinach will not only result in losses by the farmer but will also lead to contamination of the food chain. Therefore, it is important to know why Cd concentration continues to exceed permissible limits in spinach when cultivated on this soil.

Firstly, concentration of Cd in the pore water as observed throughout the experiment showed that the soluble Cd increased over time in the control soil. Cd concentration measured by the rhizon can also be linked to the pH of the soil pore-water. After 6 weeks of treatment, it was observed that average pH of the soil pore-water had decreased for all watering regimes except for DWW. This resulted in a significant increase (P < 0.05) in Cd concentration (μ g/L) measured in the soil pore-water. A negative correlation (R = -0.99) between pH and Cd in the soil pore-water, as seen in the current study, aligns with the findings of Qi et al., (2018) and Olaniran et al., (2013), wherein Cd becomes more bioavailable with decreasing pH.

The impact of root exudates could be responsible for the variation in soil pH, where in organic acids are released within the rhizosphere. The release of exudates which potentially changes the pH in the soil can influence the availability, uptake and transfer of metals from the soil to cultivated crops (Reichman and Parker, 2005). Physicochemical properties, root morphology and microbial performance of the rhizosphere influence the bioavailability of Cd in the soil (Gong et al., 2022). As earlier mentioned, pH is one of the major factors affecting the uptake of Cd by vegetables such as spinach. Performing the pH-stat experiment on the control soil revealed that at an alkaline pH e.g. pH 8, lower concentrations of Cd

could be released from the control soil, while higher concentrations could be released at an acidic pH e.g. pH 4. This suggests that under acidic conditions, Cd becomes more bioavailable and promotes absorption by the plant. Similar findings were found in previous studies (Park et al., 2011, Branzini and Zubillaga, 2012), wherein acidic soils had higher mobility and bioavailability of heavy metals in comparison to alkaline soils.

In addition, Cd concentration measured at the end of the treatment by the rhizon under wet condition i.e., 3XW was found to be quite similar to average Cd concentrations (0.64 μ g Cd/L) measured from the release kinetic experiment. This also suggests that the release kinetic experiment using CaCl₂ as an extraction solution could predict potential bioavailability of Cd. A positive correlation (R = 0.58) observed between EC and Cd concentration in the soil corroborates the findings of Qin et al., (2021), wherein three different models (linear, logarithmic and quadratic) were used to obtain a positive correlation between EC and soil-Cd. Likewise, a correlation (R = 0.2) established between TOC and Cd concentration in the soil aligns with the results of Muehe et al., (2013). This implies that by increasing these parameters (EC and TOC) in the soil, the amount of adsorbed Cd is expected to increase, thereby reducing the concentration of Cd in the soil solution. By the end of the experiment, the initial Cd concentration (μ g/L) in the soil pore water for the control soil had increased within the range of 31% - 124%, which could elevate the risk of exceeding Cd limit in cultivated spinach.

This increase in bioavailable Cd aligns with the result obtained by the DGT, wherein a R value of 0.8 for the control soil indicates a rapid resupply of Cd from the solid phase into the liquid phase. Concentrations of Cd measured by the DGT device was much lower in comparison to the concentrations in the soil pore-water. This is due to the fact that the DGT measures the concentrations of metal at the interface between the soil pore-water and the DGT device (Davison et al., 2000, Zhang, 2003). Significantly higher amount of Cd flux measured by the DGT in the control soil (1.83 x $10^{-8} \mu g s^{-1} cm^{-2}$) compared to the amended soils predicts an increase in bioavailable Cd which potentially increases the risk of uptake by spinach. Concentration of metal flux from the soil measured by DGT is quite similar to the metal flux in the plants (Lehto et al., 2006).

Generally, the mobility and bioavailability of metals within the soil is dependent not only on the pseudototal concentration but also on their fractionation in the soil (Lamb et al., 2009, Cui et al., 2016). The highest Cd concentrations (38% and 67%) measured in the first two pools of the soil using the BCR technique aligns with other studies (Alvarez et al., 2002, Pueyo et al., 2008), where the exchangeable and reducible fractions constituted a much larger percentage of metals compared to the last two fractions i.e., oxidizable and residual fractions. This suggests a potential increase in the soluble Cd once dissociation of Cd from these 2 pools occur. Sungur et al. (2014), revealed that the uptake of Cd relative to different pools of the soil is mostly dependent on the bioavailability of Cd in the exchangeable and reducible pool. However, the present study is in contrast with the findings of Deng et al., (2019), wherein the distribution of Cd in the soil was: residual > exchangeable = reducible > oxidizable. Having such fractionation of Cd in the soil as reported by Deng et al., (2019) could possibly result in a decrease in soluble Cd in comparison with the control soil used in the current study.

Finally, it can therefore be concluded that combining all these observations for the control soil such as high concentration of Cd in the exchangeable and reducible fraction of the soil, plus the increase in Cd concentration in the soil pore water with time. Also coupled with a high resupply of Cd from the solid phase into the soil solution, it is expected that cultivation of spinach (a plant with high affinity for Cd) on such a soil will likely lead to accumulation of Cd above permissible limits.

5.2 Effects of biochar

In the case of biochar amended soils, the easily extractable fraction of Cd (using $0.01 M \text{ CaCl}_2$) reduced significantly (P < 0.05) in comparison to soil with no biochar. This could be attributable to the large surface area of biochar which results in the adsorption of Cd. A decrease in easily extractable Cd is one of the conditions that potentially limits the availability and potential uptake of Cd from the soil (Sato et al., 2010). Biochar amended soils was also found to reduce NH₄NO₃ extractable Cd by 88.4% (Park et al., 2011). Extraction of metals using 0.01 *M* CaCl₂ solution has been studied to provide good predictions for the possible uptake of metals from the soil by plants (Nolan et al., 2005).

Despite having significantly decreased (P < 0.05) the soluble Cd, biochar application resulted in no significant decrease (P > 0.05) in Cd concentration in the exchangeable and reducible pool in the soil, using the BCR extraction protocol. A possible reason for this is that less Cd might have been incorporated within the biochar, which potentially resulted in equal release of Cd among all substrates, when a stronger extractant was used i.e., acetic acid and hydroxylammonium chloride. Since this experiment i.e., BCR, was performed only after 2 weeks of equilibration, the possible impact of ageing and watering regime on the extractability of Cd could not be determined. Similar findings were reported by Zahedifar, (2020), wherein the addition of 2% and 4% sugarcane bargasse-derived biochar had no significant influence on the exchangeable Cd in a soil with baseline concentrations of Cd.

However, Cd concentration in the oxidizable pool was in the order: 4% BC (0.022 mg/kg) > 2% BC (0.019 mg/kg) > control soil (0.017 mg/kg). This difference is attributable to the increase in organic matter content of soils amended with biochar. This result aligns with the findings of Park et al., (2011), who reported that the addition of chicken manure derived biochar resulted in an increase in the organic bound Cd within the soil. Sungur et al. (2014) likewise reported a significant positive correlation between soil organic matter (SOM) and Cd concentration in the oxidizable pool of the soil. Also, the

high extractability of pseudo-total Cd obtained in the reducible fraction suggests that ~ 67% of total Cd could be associated majorly with Mn-Fe oxides. Cd concentration was not significantly different (P > 0.05) in the residual fraction for all treatments

At each sampling of the rhizons (Appendix 5), Cd concentration (μ g/L) in soil pore water of the 2% BC and 4% BC treatment were always significantly lower (P < 0.05) to that of the control soil. This was similar to the findings of Park et al., (2011), wherein Cd concentrations measured in the soil pore water of biochar (1%) amended soils decreased by 42.7% in comparison to the control soil. Beesley et al., (2010) equally demonstrated that Cd concentrations (μ g/L) in soil pore water reduced by 8.3% in soil amended with hardwood-derived biochar.

Low concentrations of Cd obtained by the rhizon samplers agree with the results of DGT. R values of 0.3 and 0.2 measured by the DGT device for treatments amended with 2% and 4% BC respectively indicates a slow resupply of Cd from the solid phase. Continuous adsorption of metal to biochar, coupled with a slow resupply of metal to the liquid phase would lead to lower bioavailability (Egene et al., 2018). Determination of metal concentrations using DGT serves as a method to indirectly measure the labile fraction of metals present in the soil (Lekgoathi et al., 2022). Least Cd fluxes measured by the DGT was in the treatments with 4% BC and 2% BC. Concentration of metal flux from the soil measured by DGT is quite similar to the metal flux in the plants (Lehto et al., 2006). However, despite the difference in Cd fluxes measured by the DGT, there was no significant decrease (P > 0.05) in Cd concentration in plants cultivated on biochar amended soils. This further suggests that factors other than Cd flux, influenced the accumulation of Cd in the plants. Under diffusion-limited conditions, metal concentrations measured by DGT can be directly used to determine the uptake and accumulation of metals by plants (Bidar et al., 2019).

Biochar application significantly increased (P < 0.05) the pH of the soil. Elevation in soil pH after biochar application can be as result of the increase in basic cations and subsequent dissolution of present hydroxides. Solubility of Cd is expected to be reduced with the addition of biochar. Increased pH levels will potentially decrease the bioavailability of heavy metals within the soil (Jien and Wang, 2013). Park et al., (2011) also stated that with an increase in pH, soil respiration could increase and therefore promote microbial life within the soil. Nonetheless, alterations in other factors also influences the mobility and bioavailability of heavy metals from the solid phase, this includes redox potential, cation exchange capacity, soil micro flora (Lekgoathi et al., 2022), organic matter and silica content (Merdy et al., 2009).

The use of biochar has been proven to improve soil biological and physiochemical properties and eventually improving plant yield (Mandal et al., 2020, Trakal et al., 2017). However, in the present study, plant biomass yield (g) was not significantly different (P > 0.05) among soil treatments (with or

without biochar). Insignificant yield (g) in biomass across treatments could also have an effect on Cd concentrations measured in the plants. Reduction in metal uptake from the soil, which results in lower accumulation in plants is related to the degree of metal immobilization and dilution factor (i.e., increase in plant biomass) (Park et al., 2011).

In addition, the soil-plant concentration factor, otherwise referred to as BAF, could also be looked into. Application of biochar did not cause major decrease in concentration factor in harvested spinach (Table 5). Despite causing the immobilization and reduction of bioavailable fractions of metals, application of biochar has been reported to increase the bioaccumulation of metals in plants (Mackie et al., 2015, Rees et al., 2014, Li et al., 2019b). This could be caused by the effect of biochar on Cd concentrations around the roots. With the addition of 5% biochar, fraction of Cd bound to the roots of cultivated rice decreased by 44%, thereby increasing soluble Cd from 6.7 to 45.7% (Li et al., 2019b). This suggests there could be a negative effect of biochar application on Cd concentration in the rhizosphere. A reduction in bioavailable concentrations of heavy metals in the soil does not guarantee a lower accumulation in the shoots (Chaignon et al., 2009, Bravin et al., 2009).

In summary, addition of biochar as a soil amendment to the soil was able to significantly decrease the easily extractable Cd from the soil and likewise the concentrations of Cd in the soil solution. Also, biochar successfully reduced the rate of Cd release from the soil with time, coupled with a decrease in Cd resupply from the solid phase. However, biochar did not significantly reduce Cd concentration in the exchangeable and reducible fraction of the soil. Since, no significant decrease in Cd concentration was observed in spinach grown on biochar amended soils, application of this biochar is not sufficient to attenuate the risk of exceeding permissible limits of Cd on this soil.

5.3 Impact of watering regime

Watering regime had more impact on Cd concentration in the soil pore water for the control soil compared to biochar amended soils. In the control soil, the highest concentration $(1.05 \ \mu g \ Cd/L)$ was observed under the 1XW regime while the lowest concentration $(0.62 \ \mu g \ Cd/L)$ was obtained under the 3XW regime. This agrees with the hypothesis of Tack (2017), who stated that an increase in water application during cultivation leads to a decrease in dissolved concentrations of Cd due to its adsorption unto the soil matrix. Significantly lower biomass yield in the treatments with 1XW and WDW can be attributed to water stressed conditions. With inadequate irrigation, stomatal (pores on leaf surface that help in the exchange of water vapour and carbon dioxide) density are highly affected (Du et al., 2015). Also, photosynthetic rates and stomata conductance has been reported to be high in sandy loam soils (Lekgoathi et al., 2022).

Watering regime had an influence on the easily extractable fraction of Cd in all treatments. In conditions with more water being applied e.g., 3XW, the release of Cd was significantly lower compared to concentrations released in treatments with low watering e.g., 1XW. Also, variations in water application had an effect on Cd concentrations (mg/kg) in both biochar amended soils. For 4% BC treatment, 3XW and DWW resulted in significantly lower (P < 0.05) Cd concentrations in spinach compared to 1XW and WDW, while for the 2% BC treatment, Cd concentration in spinach cultivated under the WDW condition was significantly higher (P < 0.05) in comparison to other watering regimes. Despite having dry conditions throughout the experiment, Cd concentrations under 1XW were not significantly higher than Cd concentration under the DWW condition.

Interestingly, there was a higher accumulation of Cd in spinach cultivated on biochar amended soils in comparison to the control soil, most especially in the 1XW and WDW regimes. A relationship between the ratio of dry and fresh biomass yield (g) of spinach could provide more insight. Table 4 reveals higher ratio of dry to fresh biomass yield (g) i.e., 0.20 ± 0.06 and 0.27 ± 0.03 for the treatments with 2% BC and 4% BC respectively in comparison with the control soil (0.16 ± 0.02). An increase in this ratio could be a result of water stressed conditions in the biochar amended pots. Similarly, Gonulal et al., (2021) demonstrated that an increase in ratio of dry to fresh biomass yield (g) was significantly higher in less irrigated treatments in comparison with treatments with 100% irrigation. Water stressed conditions in "decreasing" treatments could be responsible for an increase in ratio of dry to fresh biomass yield (g) of cultivated spinach (Tack, 2017). This therefore suggests an increase in water stress under the 1XW for the biochar amended soils. Impact of biochar application on available water capacity is not always positive (Hardie et al., 2014).

Finally, it can be concluded that there was no significant effect (P > 0.05) of watering regime on the uptake of Cd from the control soil. However, variations in watering regimes had a significant impact (P < 0.05) on the uptake of Cd in biochar amended soils. In water stressed conditions (1XW and WDW), the uptake of Cd was higher in harvested spinach. Regular supply of water during cultivation is therefore expected to decrease Cd levels in spinach.

6 CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, Cd concentration (mg/kg) in spinach cultivated on the control soil most times exceed permissible limits set by the European Commission (i.e., 0.2 mg/kg FW) because of the continuous increase in Cd concentration in the soil pore water, coupled with a high concentration of Cd in the exchangeable (~ 38%) and reducible fraction (~ 67%) of the soil, plus a rapid resupply of Cd from the solid phase into the soil solution. Despite being a soil having just baseline concentrations of Cd, planting of spinach (a plant with high affinity for Cd) on this soil will likely result in Cd concentrations above 0.2 mg/kg (FW). Addition of biochar (2% and 4%) as a soil amendment successfully reduced the rate of Cd release from the soil with time, coupled with a decrease in Cd resupply from the solid phase. Moreover, biochar amended soils were observed to have significantly lower (P < 0.05) concentration of Cd in the soil pore water and easily extractable fraction of the soil. However, the exchangeable and reducible fraction of Cd in the soil was not different from that of the control soil. Hence, the application of this particular biochar as a soil amendment to this soil will not alleviate the risk of exceeding Cd concentration in harvested spinach. Lastly, variation in watering regime had no significant impact on the uptake of Cd by spinach grown on the control soil. However, for 2% BC treatment, Cd concentration in spinach cultivated under WDW condition was significantly higher (P < 0.05) compared to those cultivated with other watering regimes, while for 4% BC treatment, Cd concentration in spinach cultivated under the 3XW and DWW conditions were significantly lower (P < 0.05) than those cultivated under the 1XW and WDW regimes.

7 RECOMMENDATIONS

The application of biochar as a soil amendment on this soil requires much more understanding in order to achieve lower Cd concentrations in cultivated spinach. Some recommendations to future studies include:

- i) Proper analysis of the rhizosphere. As earlier stated, transfer of Cd from the soil by the roots to the above ground biomass is influenced by the pH and microbial life of the rhizosphere. Root exudates tend to alter the solubility of metals thereby increasing their bioavailability in the soil solution. Cd accumulation by the roots of spinach could therefore provide more insight into the decrease in total Cd content from the substrate.
- ii) Micronutrient management. Cd and some nutrients such as Zn and Fe, have been reported to have an effect on one another when present in the soil. Therefore, the possibility of micronutrient management could decrease the uptake of Cd (while enhancing the uptake of nutrients e.g. Zn and Fe) by spinach. However, caution is to taken as regards this modification, as excessive application of nutrients such as Zn in the soil could result in contamination of the soil thereby deteriorating the biological and physicochemical properties of the soil.
- iii) Cultivation of different cultivars and/or species of spinach. Due to the variations in plant genotype and physiology, different cultivars and specie of spinach tend to accumulate Cd uniquely. This could not only establish differences in the accumulation of Cd but could also provide a possible option of cultivar selection by the farmer.
- iv) Type of biochar used. As reported by various studies, the extent to which biochar functions as a soil amendment, depends on the type of feedstock used in producing it. Currently, manure-derived biochar, most especially that which is produced from cow manure, has been reported to yield great decrease in concentrations of Cd measured in cultivated vegetables. Therefore, this option could be made use of in subsequent research
- v) **Duration of research.** Insignificant decrease in concentrations of Cd measured in spinach grown on biochar amended soils could also be attributed to the time allocated for the experiment. Ageing, plays a key role in determining the impact of biochar addition in reducing the uptake of metals from cultivated soils. It is therefore expected that an increase in cultivation time could cause significant differences in uptake of Cd from the soil.

vi) Field versus greenhouse cultivation. Cultivation could also be carried out on the field so as to compare both planting conditions on the uptake of Cd by spinach. However, major environmental conditions such as rainfall and sunshine should be duly monitored so as not to disrupt the experimental set up.

REFERENCES

- AHMAD, M. 2014. Biochar as a sorbent for contaminant management in soil and water: a review., 19-33.
- AHUMADA, I., SEPÚLVEDA, K., FERNÁNDEZ, P., ASCAR, L., PEDRAZA, C., RICHTER, P. & BROWN, S. 2014.
 Effect of biosolid application to Mollisol Chilean soils on the bioavailability of heavy metals (Cu, Cr, Ni, and Zn) as assessed by bioassays with sunflower (Helianthus annuus) and DGT measurements. *Journal of soils and sediments*, 14, 886-896.
- ALEXANDER, P., ALLOWAY, B. & DOURADO, A. 2006. Genotypic variations in the accumulation of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn exhibited by six commonly grown vegetables. *Environmental pollution*, 144, 736-745.
- ALLOWAY, B. J. 2012. *Heavy metals in soils: trace metals and metalloids in soils and their bioavailability,* Springer Science & Business Media.
- ALLOWAY, B. J. 2013. Heavy metals and metalloids as micronutrients for plants and animals. *Heavy metals in soils.* Springer.
- ALVAREZ, E. A., MOCHON, M. C., SÁNCHEZ, J. J. & RODRÍGUEZ, M. T. 2002. Heavy metal extractable forms in sludge from wastewater treatment plants. *Chemosphere*, 47, 765-775.
- ANWAR, Z., IRSHAD, M., MAHMOOD, Q., HAFEEZ, F. & BILAL, M. 2017. Nutrient uptake and growth of spinach as affected by cow manure co-composted with poplar leaf litter. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*, 6, 79-88.
- ASHRAFI, M., MOHAMAD, S., YUSOFF, I. & SHAHUL HAMID, F. 2015. Immobilization of Pb, Cd, and Zn in a contaminated soil using eggshell and banana stem amendments: metal leachability and a sequential extraction study. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22, 223-230.
- AZEEZ, J. O., OLOWOBOKO, T. B., AJENIFUJA, M. D., ILEBOR, N. & ADEKOYA, E. 2019. Speciation of some heavy metals as influenced by poultry manure application in dumpsite soils. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 19, 487-494.
- BALDANTONI, D., MORRA, L., ZACCARDELLI, M. & ALFANI, A. 2016. Cadmium accumulation in leaves of leafy vegetables. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 123, 89-94.
- BASHIR, F., KASHMIRI, M., SHAFIQ, T., SAEED, M. K. & TARIQ, M. Phytotoxicity of spinach by cadmium in different textured soils amended with organic matter. 2009 ICME International Conference on Complex Medical Engineering, 2009. IEEE, 1-4.
- BEESLEY, L., MORENO-JIMÉNEZ, E. & GOMEZ-EYLES, J. L. 2010. Effects of biochar and greenwaste compost amendments on mobility, bioavailability and toxicity of inorganic and organic contaminants in a multi-element polluted soil. *Environmental pollution*, 158, 2282-2287.
- BERGQUIST, S. 2006. Bioactive compounds in baby spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.).
- BI, X., FENG, X., YANG, Y., QIU, G., LI, G., LI, F., LIU, T., FU, Z. & JIN, Z. 2006. Environmental contamination of heavy metals from zinc smelting areas in Hezhang County, western Guizhou, China. *Environment international*, 32, 883-890.
- BIDAR, G., PELFRÊNE, A., LOUVEL, B., JANUS, A. & DOUAY, F. 2019. Influence of amendments on metal environmental and toxicological availability in highly contaminated brownfield and agricultural soils. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26, 33086-33108.
- BOKOV, D., YUS, S., MAZO, V. & BESSONOV, V. 2020. Prospects for the use of spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) containing phytoecdysteroids and polyphenols. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, 12.
- BRANZINI, A. & ZUBILLAGA, M. S. 2012. Comparative use of soil organic and inorganic amendments in heavy metals stabilization. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2012.
- BRAVIN, M., MARTI, A. L., CLAIROTTE, M. & HINSINGER, P. 2009. Rhizosphere alkalisation—a major driver of copper bioavailability over a broad pH range in an acidic, copper-contaminated soil. *Plant and soil*, 318, 257-268.
- CARABALLO, M. A., SERNA, A., MACÍAS, F., PÉREZ-LÓPEZ, R., RUIZ-CÁNOVAS, C., RICHTER, P. & BECERRA-HERRERA, M. 2018. Uncertainty in the measurement of toxic metals mobility in mining/mineral wastes by standardized BCR[®] SEP. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 360, 587-593.

- CEC 2006. Impact assessment of the thematic strategy on soil protection. *Commission staff working document. SEC (2006), 620, 2006.*
- CHAIGNON, V., QUESNOIT, M. & HINSINGER, P. 2009. Copper availability and bioavailability are controlled by rhizosphere pH in rape grown in an acidic Cu-contaminated soil. *Environmental Pollution*, 157, 3363-3369.
- CHEHINE, C., HOLFORD, P., GHANNOUM, O., COLLINS, D., CONROY, J. P. & MILHAM, P. J. 2014. Transpiration influences cadmium uptake by baby leaf spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.). *American Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences*, 523-533.
- CHEN, S., XU, M., MA, Y. & YANG, J. 2007. Evaluation of different phosphate amendments on availability of metals in contaminated soil. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 67, 278-285.
- CHENG, S., CHEN, T., XU, W., HUANG, J., JIANG, S. & YAN, B. 2020. Application research of biochar for the remediation of soil heavy metals contamination: a review. *Molecules*, 25, 3167.
- CHOPIN, E. & ALLOWAY, B. 2007. Trace element partitioning and soil particle characterisation around mining and smelting areas at Tharsis, Ríotinto and Huelva, SW Spain. *Science of the Total Environment*, 373, 488-500.
- CLEMENS, S., PALMGREN, M. G. & KRÄMER, U. 2002. A long way ahead: understanding and engineering plant metal accumulation. *Trends in plant science*, **7**, 309-315.
- CLEMENTE, R., PARDO, T., MADEJÓN, P., MADEJÓN, E. & BERNAL, M. P. 2015. Food byproducts as amendments in trace elements contaminated soils. *Food Research International*, 73, 176-189.
- CODEX 1995. CODEX GENERAL STANDARD FOR CONTAMINANTS AND TOXINS IN FOOD AND FEED (CODEX STAN 193-1995) 1. PREAMBLE 1.1 SCOPE.
- CUI, H., MA, K., FAN, Y., PENG, X., MAO, J., ZHOU, D., ZHANG, Z. & ZHOU, J. 2016. Stability and heavy metal distribution of soil aggregates affected by application of apatite, lime, and charcoal. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23, 10808-10817.
- DA SILVA MENDES, J., FERNANDES, J. D., CHAVES, L. H. G., GUERRA, H. O. C., TITO, G. A. & DE BRITO CHAVES, I. 2021. Chemical and physical changes of soil amended with biochar. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* 232, 1-13.
- DAVISON, W., FONES, G., HARPER, M., TEASDALE, P. & ZHANG, H. 2000. In situ environmental measurements using dialysis, DET and DGT. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY.
- DENG, S., YU, J., WANG, Y., XIE, S., RAN, Z. & WEI, W. 2019. Distribution, transfer, and time-dependent variation of Cd in soil-rice system: A case study in the Chengdu plain, Southwest China. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 195, 104367.
- DU, H., NIE, N., RAO, W., LU, L., LEI, M. & TIE, B. 2021. Ferrihydrite–organo composites are a suitable analog for predicting Cd (II)–As (V) coexistence behaviors at the soil solid-liquid interfaces. *Environmental Pollution*, 290, 118040.
- DU, T., KANG, S., ZHANG, J. & DAVIES, W. J. 2015. Deficit irrigation and sustainable water-resource strategies in agriculture for China's food security. *Journal of experimental botany*, 66, 2253-2269.
- EGENE, C. E., VAN POUCKE, R., OK, Y. S., MEERS, E. & TACK, F. 2018. Impact of organic amendments (biochar, compost and peat) on Cd and Zn mobility and solubility in contaminated soil of the Campine region after three years. *Science of the Total Environment*, 626, 195-202.
- EHLERS, L. J. & LUTHY, R. G. 2003. Peer reviewed: contaminant bioavailability in soil and sediment. *Environmental science & technology*, 37, 295A-302A.
- EHSAN, S., ALI, S., NOUREEN, S., MAHMOOD, K., FARID, M., ISHAQUE, W., SHAKOOR, M. B. & RIZWAN, M. 2014. Citric acid assisted phytoremediation of cadmium by Brassica napus L. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 106, 164-172.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, E. C. 2015. Commission Regulation (EC) No 488/2014 of 12 May 2014 amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels of cadmium in foodstuffs. Off. J. Eur. Unionl, 138, 75.
- FAO 2020. Agriculture Organization of the United Nations FAO statistical database Available from: <u>http://faostat</u>. fao. org. *Accessed June*, 30.

FAROOQ, M., ALI, S., HAMEED, A., BHARWANA, S., RIZWAN, M., ISHAQUE, W., FARID, M., MAHMOOD,
 K. & IQBAL, Z. 2016. Cadmium stress in cotton seedlings: physiological, photosynthesis and oxidative damages alleviated by glycinebetaine. *South African Journal of Botany*, 104, 61-68.

- FERNÁNDEZ-ONDOÑO, E., BACCHETTA, G., LALLENA, A. M., NAVARRO, F. B., ORTIZ, I. & JIMÉNEZ, M. N. 2017. Use of BCR sequential extraction procedures for soils and plant metal transfer predictions in contaminated mine tailings in Sardinia. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 172, 133-141.
- FRITIOFF, Å., KAUTSKY, L. & GREGER, M. 2005. Influence of temperature and salinity on heavy metal uptake by submersed plants. *Environmental pollution*, 133, 265-274.
- GANDOIS, L., PROBST, A. & DUMAT, C. 2010. Modelling trace metal extractability and solubility in French forest soils by using soil properties. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 61, 271-286.
- GE, S., FOONG, S. Y., MA, N. L., LIEW, R. K., MAHARI, W. A. W., XIA, C., YEK, P. N. Y., PENG, W., NAM, W. L. & LIM, X. Y. 2020. Vacuum pyrolysis incorporating microwave heating and base mixture modification: an integrated approach to transform biowaste into eco-friendly bioenergy products. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 127, 109871.
- GONG, Y., YANG, Z., DUAN, H., ZHAO, J., HUANG, M. & HE, C. 2022. The Effects of Rhizosphere Properties on Shoot Cd Accumulation of Water Spinach. *Theories and Methods for Minimizing Cadmium Pollution in Crops.* Springer.
- GONULAL, E., SOYLU, S. & ŞAHİN, M. 2021. EFFECTS OF DIFFERENT WATER STRESS LEVELS ON BIOMASS YIELD AND AGRONOMIC TRAITS OF SWITCHGRASS (Panicum virgatum L.) CULTIVARS UNDER ARID AND SEMI-ARID CONDITIONS. *Turkish Journal Of Field Crops*, 26, 25-34.
- GRANT, C. & BAILEY, L. 1997. Effects of phosphorus and zinc fertiliser management on cadmium accumulation in flaxseed. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 73, 307-314.
- GRANT, C., BUCKLEY, W., BAILEY, L. & SELLES, F. 1998. Cadmium accumulation in crops. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 78, 1-17.
- GRANT, C. A., CLARKE, J. M., DUGUID, S. & CHANEY, R. 2008. Selection and breeding of plant cultivars to minimize cadmium accumulation. *Science of the total environment*, 390, 301-310.
- GUO, X., LI, H. & CHEN, H. 2017. The effects of biochar and intercropping on the Cd, Cr and Zn speciation in soils and plant uptake by Machilus pauhoi. *Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*, 98, 574-581.
- HAJNOS, M. 2011. Buffer capacity of soils. *Encyclopedia of Agrophysics; Glinski, J., Horabik, J., Lipiec, J., Eds*, 94-95.
- HAMID, Y., TANG, L., HUSSAIN, B., USMAN, M., LIU, L., ULHASSAN, Z., HE, Z. & YANG, X. 2021. Sepiolite clay: A review of its applications to immobilize toxic metals in contaminated soils and its implications in soil–plant system. *Environmental Technology & Innovation*, 23, 101598.
- HAMID, Y., TANG, L., SOHAIL, M. I., CAO, X., HUSSAIN, B., AZIZ, M. Z., USMAN, M., HE, Z.-L. & YANG, X.
 2019. An explanation of soil amendments to reduce cadmium phytoavailability and transfer to food chain. *Science of The Total Environment*, 660, 80-96.
- HARDIE, M., CLOTHIER, B., BOUND, S., OLIVER, G. & CLOSE, D. 2014. Does biochar influence soil physical properties and soil water availability? *Plant and soil*, 376, 347-361.
- HAYAT, M. T., NAUMAN, M., NAZIR, N., ALI, S. & BANGASH, N. 2019. Environmental hazards of cadmium: past, present, and future. *Cadmium toxicity and tolerance in plants*. Elsevier.
- HETTIARACHCHI, G. M., RYAN, J. A., CHANEY, R. L. & LA FLEUR, C. M. 2003. Sorption and desorption of cadmium by different fractions of biosolids-amended soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 32, 1684-1693.
- HOUBA, V., TEMMINGHOFF, E., GAIKHORST, G. & VAN VARK, W. 2000. Soil analysis procedures using 0.01 *M* calcium chloride as extraction reagent. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 31, 1299-1396.
- HOUBEN, D., EVRARD, L. & SONNET, P. 2013. Mobility, bioavailability and pH-dependent leaching of cadmium, zinc and lead in a contaminated soil amended with biochar. *Chemosphere*, 92, 1450-1457.

- HU, P., LI, Z., YUAN, C., OUYANG, Y., ZHOU, L., HUANG, J., HUANG, Y., LUO, Y., CHRISTIE, P. & WU, L. 2013. Effect of water management on cadmium and arsenic accumulation by rice (Oryza sativa L.) with different metal accumulation capacities. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 13, 916-924.
- HUANG, B., XIN, J., DAI, H., ZHOU, W. & PENG, L. 2015. Identification of low-Cd cultivars of sweet potato (Ipomoea batatas (L.) Lam.) after growing on Cd-contaminated soil: uptake and partitioning to the edible roots. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22, 11813-11821.
- IHNAT, M. & FERNANDES, L. 1996. Trace elemental characterization of composted poultry manure. *Bioresource Technology*, 57, 143-156.
- JAISHANKAR, M., TSETEN, T., ANBALAGAN, N., MATHEW, B. B. & BEEREGOWDA, K. N. 2014. Toxicity, mechanism and health effects of some heavy metals. *Interdisciplinary toxicology*, **7**, 60.
- JIEN, S.-H. & WANG, C.-S. 2013. Effects of biochar on soil properties and erosion potential in a highly weathered soil. *Catena*, 110, 225-233.
- KASTURY, F., PLACITU, S., BOLAND, J., KARNA, R. R., SCHECKEL, K. G., SMITH, E. & JUHASZ, A. L. 2019. Relationship between Pb relative bioavailability and bioaccessibility in phosphate amended soil: Uncertainty associated with predicting Pb immobilization efficacy using in vitro assays. *Environment international*, 131, 104967.
- KAYA, C., HIGGS, D., SALTALI, K. & GEZEREL, O. 2002. Response of strawberry grown at high salinity and alkalinity to supplementary potassium. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 25, 1415-1427.
- KETTERINGS, Q., REID, S. & RAO, R. 2007. Cornell University Agronomy, Agronomy Fact Sheet Series, Fact Sheet# 22,(2007). *Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)*.
- KHAN, A. Z., DING, X., KHAN, S., AYAZ, T., FIDEL, R. & KHAN, M. A. 2020. Biochar efficacy for reducing heavy metals uptake by Cilantro (Coriandrum sativum) and spinach (Spinaccia oleracea) to minimize human health risk. *Chemosphere*, 244, 125543.
- KIM, B. M., LEE, H. J., SONG, Y. H. & KIM, H. J. 2021. Effect of salt stress on the growth, mineral contents, and metabolite profiles of spinach. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 101, 3787-3794.
- KOIKE, S. T., CAHN, M., CANTWELL, M., FENNIMORE, S., LESTRANGE, M., NATWICK, E., SMITH, R. F. & TAKELE, E. 2011. Spinach production in California.
- KUBIER, A., WILKIN, R. T. & PICHLER, T. 2019. Cadmium in soils and groundwater: a review. *Applied Geochemistry*, 108, 104388.
- KUMARPANDIT, T., KUMARNAIK, S., PATRA, P. K., DEY, N., PATRA, P. K. & DAS, D. K. 2017. Influence of organic manure and lime on cadmium mobility in soil and uptake by spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.). *Communications in soil science and plant analysis,* 48, 357-369.
- LAKANEN, E. & ERVIÖ, R. 1971. A comparison of eight extractants for the determination of plant available micronutrients in soils. *Helsingin yliopiston rehtorin professori Erkki Kivisen juhlajulkaisu/Viljo Puustjärvi (toim.)*.
- LAMB, D. T., MING, H., MEGHARAJ, M. & NAIDU, R. 2009. Heavy metal (Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb) partitioning and bioaccessibility in uncontaminated and long-term contaminated soils. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 171, 1150-1158.
- LEHTO, N. J., DAVISON, W., ZHANG, H. & TYCH, W. 2006. Theoretical comparison of how soil processes affect uptake of metals by diffusive gradients in thinfilms and plants. *Journal of environmental quality*, 35, 1903-1913.
- LEKGOATHI, B. P., SOUNDY, P. & KGOPA, P. M. 2022. Deficit Irrigation on Growth of Baby Spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) Cultivars Grown in Varied-textured Soils. *HortScience*, 57, 518-522.
- LI, C., DING, S., YANG, L., WANG, Y., REN, M., CHEN, M., FAN, X. & LICHTFOUSE, E. 2019a. Diffusive gradients in thin films: devices, materials and applications. *Environmental chemistry letters*, 17, 801-831.
- LI, H., YANG, Z., DAI, M., DIAO, X., DAI, S., FANG, T. & DONG, X. 2020. Input of Cd from agriculture phosphate fertilizer application in China during 2006–2016. *Science of the Total Environment*, 698, 134149.

- LI, H., YU, Y., CHEN, Y., LI, Y., WANG, M. & WANG, G. 2019b. Biochar reduced soil extractable Cd but increased its accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivated on contaminated soils. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 19, 862-871.
- LIU, T., LIU, Z., ZHENG, Q., LANG, Q., XIA, Y., PENG, N. & GAI, C. 2018. Effect of hydrothermal carbonization on migration and environmental risk of heavy metals in sewage sludge during pyrolysis. *Bioresource technology*, 247, 282-290.
- LIU, W., FENG, Y., ZHONG, H., PTACEK, C., BLOWES, D., LIU, Y., FINFROCK, Y. Z., LIU, P. & WANG, S. 2020. Aqua regia digestion cannot completely extract Hg from biochar: A synchrotron-based study. *Environmental Pollution*, 265, 115002.
- LIU, X., ZENG, Z., CHEN, Q. & ZOU, H. 2014. Effects of biochar and lime additives on non-point load of heavy metals in paddy soil. *J Hydraulic Engine*, 45, 682-690.
- LIU, Y., XIAO, T., NING, Z., LI, H., TANG, J. & ZHOU, G. 2013. High cadmium concentration in soil in the Three Gorges region: Geogenic source and potential bioavailability. *Applied geochemistry*, 37, 149-156.
- LIU, Y., XIAO, T., PERKINS, R. B., ZHU, J., ZHU, Z., XIONG, Y. & NING, Z. 2017. Geogenic cadmium pollution and potential health risks, with emphasis on black shale. *Journal of geochemical exploration*, 176, 42-49.
- LUO, L., MA, Y., ZHANG, S., WEI, D. & ZHU, Y.-G. 2009. An inventory of trace element inputs to agricultural soils in China. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90, 2524-2530.
- MA, Q., ZHAO, W., GUAN, D.-X., TENG, H. H., JI, J. & MA, L. Q. 2020. Comparing CaCl2, EDTA and DGT methods to predict Cd and Ni accumulation in rice grains from contaminated soils. *Environmental Pollution*, 260, 114042.
- MACHADO, R., ALVES-PEREIRA, I., LOURENÇO, D. & FERREIRA, R. 2020. Effect of organic compost and inorganic nitrogen fertigation on spinach growth, phytochemical accumulation and antioxidant activity. *Heliyon*, 6, e05085.
- MACKIE, K., MARHAN, S., DITTERICH, F., SCHMIDT, H. & KANDELER, E. 2015. The effects of biochar and compost amendments on copper immobilization and soil microorganisms in a temperate vineyard. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* 201, 58-69.
- MANDAL, S., PU, S., SHANGGUAN, L., LIU, S., MA, H., ADHIKARI, S. & HOU, D. 2020. Synergistic construction of green tea biochar supported nZVI for immobilization of lead in soil: A mechanistic investigation. *Environment international*, 135, 105374.
- MANI, D., MOURYA, V. K., BALAK, S., PATEL, N. K. & PAL, N. 2014. Effect of organic matter on the uptake of cadmium by Spinach (Spinacea oleracea L.). *Asian J. Adv. Basic Sci*, **3**, 144-150.
- MARTÍN, J. A. R., ARIAS, M. L. & CORBÍ, J. M. G. 2006. Heavy metals contents in agricultural topsoils in the Ebro basin (Spain). Application of the multivariate geoestatistical methods to study spatial variations. *Environmental pollution*, 144, 1001-1012.
- MEERS, E., DU LAING, G., UNAMUNO, V., RUTTENS, A., VANGRONSVELD, J., TACK, F. & VERLOO, M. 2007. Comparison of cadmium extractability from soils by commonly used single extraction protocols. *Geoderma*, 141, 247-259.
- MERDY, P., GHARBI, L. T. & LUCAS, Y. 2009. Pb, Cu and Cr interactions with soil: sorption experiments and modelling. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 347, 192-199.
- MOYA, J., ROS, R. & PICAZO, I. 1993. Influence of cadmium and nickel on growth, net photosynthesis and carbohydrate distribution in rice plants. *Photosynthesis research*, 36, 75-80.
- MUEHE, E. M., ADAKTYLOU, I. J., OBST, M., ZEITVOGEL, F., BEHRENS, S., PLANER-FRIEDRICH, B., KRAEMER, U. & KAPPLER, A. 2013. Organic carbon and reducing conditions lead to cadmium immobilization by secondary Fe mineral formation in a pH-neutral soil. *Environmental science* & technology, 47, 13430-13439.
- NAGAJYOTI, P. C., LEE, K. D. & SREEKANTH, T. 2010. Heavy metals, occurrence and toxicity for plants: a review. *Environmental chemistry letters*, **8**, 199-216.
- NAIDU, R., BOLAN, N., MEGHARAJ, M., JUHASZ, A., GUPTA, S., CLOTHIER, B. & SCHULIN, R. 2008. Chemical bioavailability in terrestrial environments. *Developments in soil science*, 32, 1-6.

- NARZARI, R., BORDOLOI, N., CHUTIA, R. S., BORKOTOKI, B., GOGOI, N., BORA, A. & KATAKI, R. 2015. Biochar: an overview on its production, properties and potential benefits. *Biology, biotechnology and sustainable development,* **1**, 13-40.
- NAWROT, T. S., STAESSEN, J. A., ROELS, H. A., MUNTERS, E., CUYPERS, A., RICHART, T., RUTTENS, A., SMEETS, K., CLIJSTERS, H. & VANGRONSVELD, J. 2010. Cadmium exposure in the population: from health risks to strategies of prevention. *Biometals*, 23, 769-782.
- NEMADODZI, L. E., ARAYA, H., NKOMO, M., NGEZIMANA, W. & MUDAU, N. F. 2017. Nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium effects on the physiology and biomass yield of baby spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.). *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 40, 2033-2044.
- NISHIJO, M., NAKAGAWA, H., SUWAZONO, Y., NOGAWA, K. & KIDO, T. 2017. Causes of death in patients with Itai-itai disease suffering from severe chronic cadmium poisoning: a nested case– control analysis of a follow-up study in Japan. *BMJ open*, 7, e015694.
- NOBAHARAN, K., ABTAHI, A., ASGARI LAJAYER, B. & VAN HULLEBUSCH, E. D. 2022. Effects of biochar dose on cadmium accumulation in spinach and its fractionation in a calcareous soil. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, **15**, 1-14.
- NOLAN, A. L., ZHANG, H. & MCLAUGHLIN, M. J. 2005. Prediction of zinc, cadmium, lead, and copper availability to wheat in contaminated soils using chemical speciation, diffusive gradients in thin films, extraction, and isotopic dilution techniques. *Journal of environmental quality*, 34, 496-507.
- OGBAJI, P., LI, J., XUE, X., SHAHRAJABIAN, M. H. & EGRINYA, E. 2018. Impact of bio-fertilizer or nutrient solution on Spinach (Spinacea Oleracea) growth and yield in some province soils of PR China.
- OLANIRAN, A. O., BALGOBIND, A. & PILLAY, B. 2013. Bioavailability of heavy metals in soil: impact on microbial biodegradation of organic compounds and possible improvement strategies. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 14, 10197-10228.
- PADILLA-ORTEGA, E., LEYVA-RAMOS, R. & FLORES-CANO, J. 2013. Binary adsorption of heavy metals from aqueous solution onto natural clays. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 225, 535-546.
- PARK, J. H., CHOPPALA, G. K., BOLAN, N. S., CHUNG, J. W. & CHUASAVATHI, T. 2011. Biochar reduces the bioavailability and phytotoxicity of heavy metals. *Plant and soil*, 348, 439-451.
- PARWADA, C., CHIGIYA, V., NGEZIMANA, W. & CHIPOMHO, J. 2020. Growth and performance of baby spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) grown under different organic fertilizers. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2020.
- PETRUZZELLI, G., PEDRON, F. & ROSELLINI, I. 2020. Bioavailability and bioaccessibility in soil: a short review and a case study. *AIMS Environmental Science*, **7**, 208-225.
- PETRUZZELLI, G., PEDRON, F., ROSELLINI, I. & BARBAFIERI, M. 2015. The bioavailability processes as a key to evaluate phytoremediation efficiency. *Phytoremediation*. Springer.
- PHILLIPS, C. L., MEYER, K. M., GARCIA-JARAMILLO, M., WEIDMAN, C. S., STEWART, C. E., WANZEK, T., GRUSAK, M. A., WATTS, D. W., NOVAK, J. & TRIPPE, K. M. 2022. Towards predicting biochar impacts on plant-available soil nitrogen content. *Biochar*, 4, 1-15.
- POURGHASEMIAN, N., EHSANZADEH, P. & GREGER, M. 2013. Genotypic variation in safflower (Carthamus spp.) cadmium accumulation and tolerance affected by temperature and cadmium levels. *Environmental and experimental botany*, 87, 218-226.
- PRAJAPATI, K. & MODI, H. 2012. The importance of potassium in plant growth–a review. *Indian Journal* of Plant Sciences, 1, 177-186.
- PUEYO, M., MATEU, J., RIGOL, A., VIDAL, M., LÓPEZ-SÁNCHEZ, J. & RAURET, G. 2008. Use of the modified BCR three-step sequential extraction procedure for the study of trace element dynamics in contaminated soils. *Environmental pollution*, 152, 330-341.
- QAYYUM, M. F., REHMAN, R. A., LIAQAT, S., IKRAM, M., ALI, S., RIZWAN, M., ZIA UR REHMAN, M., ZAFAR-UL-HYE, M. & HUSSAIN, Q. 2019. Cadmium immobilization in the soil and accumulation by spinach (Spinacia oleracea) depend on biochar types under controlled and field conditions. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 12, 1-11.

- QI, F., LAMB, D., NAIDU, R., BOLAN, N. S., YAN, Y., OK, Y. S., RAHMAN, M. M. & CHOPPALA, G. 2018. Cadmium solubility and bioavailability in soils amended with acidic and neutral biochar. *Science of the Total Environment*, 610, 1457-1466.
- QIN, C., YUAN, X., XIONG, T., TAN, Y. Z. & WANG, H. 2020. Physicochemical properties, metal availability and bacterial community structure in heavy metal-polluted soil remediated by montmorillonite-based amendments. *Chemosphere*, 261, 128010.
- QUEVAUVILLER, P. 1998. Operationally defined extraction procedures for soil and sediment analysis I. Standardization. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, **17**, 289-298.
- RANST, E. V., VERLOO, M., DEMEYER, A. & PAUWELS, J. 1999. Manual for the soil chemistry and fertility laboratory: Analytical methods for soils and plants equipment, and management of consumables.
- RAURET, G., LOPEZ-SANCHEZ, J., SAHUQUILLO, A., RUBIO, R., DAVIDSON, C., URE, A. & QUEVAUVILLER,
 P. 1999. Improvement of the BCR three step sequential extraction procedure prior to the certification of new sediment and soil reference materials. *Journal of environmental monitoring*, 1, 57-61.
- REES, F., SIMONNOT, M.-O. & MOREL, J.-L. 2014. Short-term effects of biochar on soil heavy metal mobility are controlled by intra-particle diffusion and soil pH increase. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 65, 149-161.
- REICHMAN, S. & PARKER, D. 2005. Metal complexation by phytosiderophores in the rhizosphere. *Biogeochemistry of trace elements in the rhizosphere*. Elsevier.
- RÖMKENS, P. F., GUO, H.-Y., CHU, C.-L., LIU, T.-S., CHIANG, C.-F. & KOOPMANS, G. F. 2009. Characterization of soil heavy metal pools in paddy fields in Taiwan: chemical extraction and solid-solution partitioning. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 9, 216-228.
- ROY, S. S., MAHAPATRA, R., RATH, S., BAJPAI, A., SINGH, V., RATH, S., NAIR, N., TRIPATHY, P., GOPE, R.
 K. & SINHA, R. 2013. Improved neonatal survival after participatory learning and action with women's groups: a prospective study in rural eastern India. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 91, 426-433B.
- SASTRE, J., SAHUQUILLO, A., VIDAL, M. & RAURET, G. 2002. Determination of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn in environmental samples: microwave-assisted total digestion versus aqua regia and nitric acid extraction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 462, 59-72.
- SATO, A., TAKEDA, H., OYANAGI, W., NISHIHARA, E. & MURAKAMI, M. 2010. Reduction of cadmium uptake in spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) by soil amendment with animal waste compost. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 181, 298-304.
- SAWYER, J. 2010. Nutrient deficiencies and application injuries in field crops.
- ŠČANČAR, J., MILAČIČ, R. & HORVAT, M. 2000. Comparison of various digestion and extraction procedures in analysis of heavy metals in sediments. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution,* 118, 87-99.
- SEBASTIAN, A. & PRASAD, M. N. V. 2014. Cadmium minimization in rice. A review. Agronomy for *Sustainable Development*, 34, 155-173.
- SELLES, F., ZENTNER, R., LAFOND, G. & JANZEN, H. Effect of fertilizer management on grain cadmium. Proceedings of the 33rd Annual Alberta Soil Science Workshop. Convention Inn, Edmonton, AB, 1996. 20-22.
- SEMPLE, K. T., DOICK, K. J., JONES, K. C., BURAUEL, P., CRAVEN, A. & HARMS, H. 2004. Peer reviewed: defining bioavailability and bioaccessibility of contaminated soil and sediment is complicated. ACS Publications.
- SHAHEEN, S. M. & RINKLEBE, J. 2015. Impact of emerging and low cost alternative amendments on the (im) mobilization and phytoavailability of Cd and Pb in a contaminated floodplain soil. *Ecological Engineering*, 74, 319-326.
- SHAHID, M., DUMAT, C., KHALID, S., NIAZI, N. K. & ANTUNES, P. 2016. Cadmium bioavailability, uptake, toxicity and detoxification in soil-plant system. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology Volume 241*, 73-137.
- SHANNON, M. & GRIEVE, C. 1998. Tolerance of vegetable crops to salinity. *Scientia horticulturae*, 78, 5-38.

SHARMA, A. & NAGPAL, A. K. 2018. Soil amendments: a tool to reduce heavy metal uptake in crops for production of safe food. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, **17**, **187**-203.

- SHEN, C., FU, H.-L., LIAO, Q., HUANG, B.-F., HUANG, Y.-Y. & XIN, J.-L. 2021. Selection for low-cadmium cultivars and cadmium subcellular distribution comparison between two selected cultivars of eggplant (Solanum melongena L.). *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28, 57739-57750.
- SHRIVASTAVA, A. & GUPTA, V. B. 2011. Methods for the determination of limit of detection and limit of quantitation of the analytical methods. *Chron. Young Sci*, 2, 21-25.
- SMOLDERS, E. 2001. Cadmium uptake by plants. *International journal of occupational medicine and environmental health*, 14, 177-183.
- STOKES, J. D., PATON, G. & SEMPLE, K. T. 2005. Behaviour and assessment of bioavailability of organic contaminants in soil: relevance for risk assessment and remediation. *Soil Use and Management*, 21, 475-486.
- SUI, F., ZUO, J., CHEN, D., LI, L., PAN, G. & CROWLEY, D. E. 2018. Biochar effects on uptake of cadmium and lead by wheat in relation to annual precipitation: a 3-year field study. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25, 3368-3377.
- SUN, Q., CHEN, Y., XU, D., WANG, Y. & DING, S. 2013. Investigation of potential interferences on the measurement of dissolved reactive phosphate using zirconium oxide-based DGT technique. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 25, 1592-1600.
- SUN, Z., ZHANG, Z., ZHU, K., WANG, Z., ZHAO, X., LIN, Q. & LI, G. 2020. Biochar altered native soil organic carbon by changing soil aggregate size distribution and native SOC in aggregates based on an 8-year field experiment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 708, 134829.
- SUNGUR, A., SOYLAK, M. & OZCAN, H. 2014. Investigation of heavy metal mobility and availability by the BCR sequential extraction procedure: relationship between soil properties and heavy metals availability. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*, 26, 219-230.
- TACK, F. Cadmium in cultivated spinach: controlling the uptake. Proc. 14th International Symposium Microelements In agriculture and in the environment, 2022. Institute of Soil Science, Plant Nutrition and Environmental Protection
- TACK, F. M. 2017. Watering regime influences Cd concentrations in cultivated spinach. *Journal of environmental management,* 186, 201-206.
- TACK, F. M. & EGENE, C. E. 2019. Potential of biochar for managing metal contaminated areas, in synergy with phytomanagement or other management options. *Biochar from biomass and waste.* Elsevier.
- TACK, F. M. & VERLOO, M. G. 1996. Impact of single reagent extraction using NH4OAc-EDTA on the solid phase distribution of metals in a contaminated dredged sediment. *Science of the total environment*, 178, 29-36.
- TANG, L., HAMID, Y., ZEHRA, A., SAHITO, Z. A., HE, Z., KHAN, M. B., FENG, Y. & YANG, X. 2020. Mechanisms of water regime effects on uptake of cadmium and nitrate by two ecotypes of water spinach (Ipomoea aquatica Forsk.) in contaminated soil. *Chemosphere*, 246, 125798.
- TARAŠKEVIČIUS, R., ZINKUTĖ, R., STAKĖNIENĖ, R. & RADAVIČIUS, M. 2013. Case study of the relationship between aqua regia and real total contents of harmful trace elements in some European soils. *Journal of Chemistry*, 2013.
- TÓTH, G., HERMANN, T., DA SILVA, M. & MONTANARELLA, L. 2016. Heavy metals in agricultural soils of the European Union with implications for food safety. *Environment international*, 88, 299-309.
- TRAKAL, L., RAYA-MORENO, I., MITCHELL, K. & BEESLEY, L. 2017. Stabilization of metal (loid) s in two contaminated agricultural soils: comparing biochar to its non-pyrolysed source material. *Chemosphere*, 181, 150-159.
- TUDOREANU, L. & PHILLIPS, C. J. 2004. Empirical models of cadmium accumulation in maize, rye grass and soya bean plants. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 84, 845-852.

- UMEH, A. C., NAIDU, R., OWOJORI, O. J. & SEMPLE, K. T. 2020. Bioavailability and bioaccessibility of hydrophobic organic contaminants in soil and associated desorption-based measurements. *Bioavailability of Organic Chemicals in Soil and Sediment.* Springer.
- UR RAHMAN, S., XUEBIN, Q., RIAZ, L., YASIN, G., NOOR SHAH, A., SHAHZAD, U., SHAH JAHAN, M., DITTA, A., AMJAD BASHIR, M. & REHIM, A. 2021. The interactive effect of pH variation and cadmium stress on wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) growth, physiological and biochemical parameters. *Plos one*, 16, e0253798.
- USDA 2020. Spinach, baby. Fooddata Central. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Agricultural Research Services, DC, USA.
- VACULÍK, M., KONLECHNER, C., LANGER, I., ADLASSNIG, W., PUSCHENREITER, M., LUX, A. & HAUSER, M.-T. 2012. Root anatomy and element distribution vary between two Salix caprea isolates with different Cd accumulation capacities. *Environmental Pollution*, 163, 117-126.
- VERMA, S. 2018. A study on medicinal herb Spinacia oleraceae Linn: Amaranthaceae. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, 8, 59-61.
- WANG, C., LIU, J., SHEN, J., CHEN, D., LI, Y., JIANG, B. & WU, J. 2018. Effects of biochar amendment on net greenhouse gas emissions and soil fertility in a double rice cropping system: a 4-year field experiment. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 262, 83-96.
- WANG, J., YUAN, J., YANG, Z., HUANG, B., ZHOU, Y., XIN, J., GONG, Y. & YU, H. 2009. Variation in cadmium accumulation among 30 cultivars and cadmium subcellular distribution in 2 selected cultivars of water spinach (Ipomoea aquatica Forsk.). *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 57, 8942-8949.
- WHO 2000. *Air quality guidelines for Europe,* World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe.
- XIN, J., HUANG, B., LIU, A., ZHOU, W. & LIAO, K. 2013. Identification of hot pepper cultivars containing low Cd levels after growing on contaminated soil: uptake and redistribution to the edible plant parts. *Plant and soil*, 373, 415-425.
- XU, D.-M., FU, R.-B., WANG, J.-X., SHI, Y.-X. & GUO, X.-P. 2021. Chemical stabilization remediation for heavy metals in contaminated soils on the latest decade: Available stabilizing materials and associated evaluation methods-A critical review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 321, 128730.
- XUE, M., ZHOU, Y., YANG, Z., LIN, B., YUAN, J. & WU, S. 2014. Comparisons in subcellular and biochemical behaviors of cadmium between low-Cd and high-Cd accumulation cultivars of pakchoi (Brassica chinensis L.). *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 8, 226-238.
- YANG, D., GUO, Z., GREEN, I. D. & XIE, D. 2016. Effect of cadmium accumulation on mineral nutrient levels in vegetable crops: potential implications for human health. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23, 19744-19753.
- YANG, Z., LIU, L., LV, Y., CHENG, Z., XU, X., XIAN, J., ZHU, X. & YANG, Y. 2018. Metal availability, soil nutrient, and enzyme activity in response to application of organic amendments in Cd-contaminated soil. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25, 2425-2435.
- YI, Z., LEHTO, N. J., ROBINSON, B. H. & CAVANAGH, J.-A. E. 2020. Environmental and edaphic factors affecting soil cadmium uptake by spinach, potatoes, onion and wheat. *Science of the Total Environment*, 713, 136694.
- YIN, A., YANG, Z., EBBS, S., YUAN, J., WANG, J. & YANG, J. 2016. Effects of phosphorus on chemical forms of Cd in plants of four spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) cultivars differing in Cd accumulation. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23, 5753-5762.
- YOUNIS, U., MALIK, S. A., RIZWAN, M., QAYYUM, M. F., OK, Y. S., SHAH, M. H. R., REHMAN, R. A. & AHMAD, N. 2016. Biochar enhances the cadmium tolerance in spinach (Spinacia oleracea) through modification of Cd uptake and physiological and biochemical attributes. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23, 21385-21394.
- YOUNIS, U., QAYYUM, M. F., SHAH, M. H. R., DANISH, S., SHAHZAD, A. N., MALIK, S. A. & MAHMOOD, S. 2015. Growth, survival, and heavy metal (Cd and Ni) uptake of spinach (Spinacia oleracea) and fenugreek (Trigonella corniculata) in a biochar-amended sewage-irrigated contaminated soil. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 178, 209-217.

- ZAHEDIFAR, M. 2020. Effect of biochar on cadmium fractions in some polluted saline and sodic soils. *Environmental Management*, 66, 1133-1141.
- ZHANG, H. 2003. DGT-for measurements in waters, soils and sediments. 2003. DGT Research Ltd.: Lancaster.
- ZHANG, R.-H., LI, Z.-G., LIU, X.-D., WANG, B.-C., ZHOU, G.-L., HUANG, X.-X., LIN, C.-F., WANG, A.-H. & BROOKS, M. 2017. Immobilization and bioavailability of heavy metals in greenhouse soils amended with rice straw-derived biochar. *Ecological Engineering*, 98, 183-188.
- ZIKALALA, B. O., NKOMO, M., ARAYA, H., NGEZIMANA, W. & MUDAU, F. N. 2017. Nutritional quality of baby spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) as affected by nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilisation. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 34, 79-86.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1

Spinach plants after 7 weeks of planting (which includes 3 weeks of treatment)

CONTROL SOIL

3XW







2% BC TREATMENT

3XW



DWW

DWW

WDW



4% BC TREATMENT

3XW

1XW

DWW

WDW



3XW - three-times watering per week. 1XW – one-time watering per week. DWW – dry-wet watering i.e., one-time watering for the first three weeks then three-times watering for the last three weeks. WDW – wet-dry watering i.e., three-times watering for the first three weeks then one-time watering for the last three weeks. BC - biochar
Spinach plants at harvest (10 weeks of cultivation, which includes 6 weeks of treatment)

CONTROL SOIL



2% BC TREATMENT

3XW

1XW

DWW

WDW



4% BC TREATMENT

3XW

1XW

DWW

WDW



3XW - three-times watering per week. **1XW** – one-time watering per week. **DWW** – dry-wet watering i.e., one-time watering for the first three weeks then three-times watering for the last three weeks. **WDW** – wet-dry watering i.e., three-times watering for the first three weeks then one-time watering for the last three weeks. **BC** - biochar

3.1. Concentration of nutrients, mg/100 g, dry weight (DW) basis in spinach leaves

mg/100g (DW)					
Ca	Mg	K	Zn	Fe	Р
1151.16	918.61	6488.37	6.26	31.51	567.78

3.2. Concentration of nutrients measured in above ground biomass

3XW	Nutrients	Control soil (mg/100 g, DW)	Soil with 2% BC (mg/100 g, DW)	Soil with 4% BC (mg/100 g, DW)
	Ca	1519.89	1515.01	1618.92
	Mg	859.55	697.48	684.31
	K	2869.1	3656.7	4428.3
	Zn	10.32	9.62	6.92
	Fe	44.34	28.03	23.01
1XW				
	Ca	1890.82	1686.57	1491.54
	Mg	1167.9	913.29	694.64
	ĸ	3070.9	4063.9	4090.5
	Zn	11.51	13.01	11.54
	Fe	42.61	36.02	30.14
DWW				
	Ca	1743.21	1279.1	1573.91
	Mg	1034.1	706.87	764.25
	ĸ	2983	3124.4	5330.5
	Zn	45.3	10.71	15.82
	Fe	52.87	20.88	22.7
WDW				
	Ca	1842.58	1804.09	1549.82
	Mg	1095.6	838.8	613.35
	ĸ	2886.4	3745.9	3441.5
	Zn	41.527	11.15	10.62
	Fe	72.24	28.66	22.77

Watering pattern implemented during the experiment. Week 1 to week 4 represents the period before application of the different watering regimes. Week 5 to week 10 represents the period when the watering regimes was implemented.



Change in pH of soil pore-water after 3 weeks and 6 weeks of treatment. Means and standard deviation are shown (n = 4).

	Watering regime	3 weeks treatment	6 weeks treatment
Control soil	3XW	6.75 ± 0.04	5.99 ± 0.01
	1XW	6.81 ± 0.01	-
	DWW	6.69 ± 0.03	7.05 ± 0.04
	WDW	6.91 ± 0.04	6.40 ± 0.03
Soil with 2% BC	3XW	7.52 ± 0.02	6.92 ± 0.04
	1XW	7.29 ± 0.02	7.00 ± 0.03
	DWW	7.19 ± 0.04	6.89 ± 0.05
	WDW	7.09 ± 0.01	7.06 ± 0.01
Soil with 4% BC	3XW	7.42 ± 0.04	7.21 ± 0.03
	1XW	7.25 ± 0.01	7.15 ± 0.04
	DWW	7.59 ± 0.04	7.31 ± 0.03
	WDW	7.53 ± 0.02	7.03 ± 0.04





Error bars represent standard deviation. Average concentrations are shown (n = 4)



Error bars represent standard deviation. Average concentrations are shown (n = 4)

Nutritional value per 100 g of raw Spinach (S <i>oleracea</i>) (FW) Source:	USDA FoodData Central
realized for 100 g of 100 spinaen (s. steraeea) (r. v.). Source.	CODITI COUDUIU CONTU

Proximate	Quantity	DV(%)
Carbohydrates	3.6 g	
Fat	0.4 g	
Protein	2.9 g	
Vitamins		
Vitamin A equivalent	469 μg	59
beta-Carotene	5626 μg	52
lutein zeaxanthin	12198 μg	
Vitamin A	9377 IU	
Thiamine (B1)	0.078 mg	7
Riboflavin (B2)	0.189 mg	16
Niacin (B3)	0.724 mg	5
Vitamin (B6)	0.195 mg	15
Folate (B9)	194 μg	49
Vitamin C	28 mg	34
Vitamin E	2 mg	13
Vitamin K	483 µg	460
Minerals		
Calcium	99 mg	10
Iron	2.71 mg	21
Magnesium	79 mg	22
Manganese	0.897 mg	43
Phosphorus	49 mg	7
Potassium	558 mg	12
Sodium	79 mg	5
Zinc	0.53 mg	6
Other constituents		
Water	91.4 g	

DV % = percentage of dietary value